
MidCentral Distri

Annual 
2008

  

ict Health Board 

Report 
8/09 



MDHB 2008/09 Annual Report, Page 2 

  



MDHB 2008/09 Annual Report, Page 3 

Contents 
 
Statement by the Chair and Chief Executive Officer ........................................... 4 

Where the Money Goes .......................................................................................... 15 

Statement of Service Performance ....................................................................... 16 

Financial Statements ................................................................................................ 42 

Auditor’s Report ........................................................................................................ 47 

Cost of Service Statement ...................................................................................... 50 

Statement of Responsibility ..................................................................................... 51 

Governance Statement .......................................................................................... 52 

Statement of Accounting Policies ......................................................................... 69 

Notes to Financial Statements ................................................................................ 78 

Directory .................................................................................................................... 92 

  



MDHB 2008/09 Annual Report, Page 4 

Statement by the Chair and Chief Executive Officer 
 
 
 

MidCentral DHB faces many, sometimes 
conflicting challenges.  

It must improve elective volumes, and 
cancer and emergency department 
wait times. 

It must reduce costs. 

It must retain a skilled workforce in a very 
competitive international market. 

And it must continue work which will see 
long term improvements in the district’s 
health.  

All this against a backdrop of rising 
acute demand for hospital services, an 
ageing population which draws heavily 
on health services, and an economic 
downturn.  

Our DHB has risen to challenges like  
this before and we are confident that 
we will succeed, ensuring short term 
improvements in hospital services, while 
building a health system capable of 
serving the district in the year 2029 when 
over 20% of people will be aged 65 years 
or more. 

Hospital Services 

It is a critical time for hospital services. They 
must change both models of care and cost 
structures to be able to manage growing 
demand, the needs of an ageing population, 
and be financially viable. 

MidCentral Health delivered significantly more 
services, both acute and elective, than ever 
before, increasing throughout (case weighted 
discharges) by 4% over the previous year.  

Acute cases (largely medical in nature) have 
risen by around 6% over the last two years. The 
majority of these cases are elderly people who 
generally have two or more health conditions 
and their care is more complex. This trend is 
expected to continue given the ageing 
population.  

The acute workload, and the longer time taken 
to care for these patients, has put considerable 
pressure on Palmerston North Hospital’s 353 
beds. Bed occupancy rates have increased 
from 81% to 94% in the last two years, and 
frequently surgical beds have been used to 
accommodate acute cases. The result was 
elective surgical throughput was curtailed, 
falling below target levels, as the beds and staff 
were targeted elsewhere. 

 
MidCentral Health delivered significantly 
more services, both acute and elective, 
than ever before. 
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Murray Georgel, CEO and 
Ian Wilson, Chairman report on  

the year’s achievements. 



MDHB 2008/09 Annual Report, Page 6 

 

To address this issue, we re-modelled bed 
requirements based on an average 4% growth 
in medical volumes. By the year 2026 we 
forecast that at least 85 more beds will be 
needed, and we have started work to increase 
beds by 16 in 2009 to address short term needs. 
A new eight-bed women’s surgical unit is 
scheduled to open in July 2009, and a new 
fifteen-bed Acute Medical Assessment Unit will 
follow a month later. The latter will help us to 
better manage acute admissions, reducing the 
overflow of medical cases into surgical wards. 

The location of beds by speciality throughout 
the hospital has also been reconfigured to 
make it easier for clinical staff to care for their 
patients effectively. 

The target we have set ourselves is to increase 
elective volumes by 4% in 2009/10. 

The new Acute Medical Assessment Unit will 
also assist the Emergency Department (ED) in 
assessing and treating people requiring its care, 
and in achieving the Government’s new target 
of a four hour wait time for ED treatment.  

A PEDAL (Post Emergency Department 
Assessment & Liaison) team works within the 
Emergency Department to co-ordinate care for 
elderly patients. This year the team expanded 
its function to provide an acute assessment 
service for GPs to enable elderly patients to be 
assessed in their home rather than attending 
Emergency Department. 

Long term, it is intended hospital services be 
structured regionally, and the development of 
a Regional Clinical Services Plan was a major 
milestone for the year. MidCentral DHB and the 
five other DHBs in the central region (lower 
North Island) developed the plan, which 
promotes clinical networks and centres of 
excellence. The plan will be implemented 
progressively over the next five years, and a 
clinical governance group was established to 
play a lead role. Alongside this is MidCentral 
Health’s plan to reconfigure Palmerston North 
Hospital. MidCentral DHB’s ability to progress 
these long term plans will be influenced by the 
time and resource necessary to achieve the 
short term gains in elective and financial 
performance.  

From a financial perspective, MidCentral 
Health’s cost structure cannot continue at its 
present level. Its expenses are rising at a rate 
well in excess of funding increases, and it must 
reduce costs by $10m (or 4%). This is a short 
term imperative as the DHB can no longer 
subsidise this cost over-run internally. It is also 
necessary long term otherwise major capital 
projects like the further upgrade of Palmerston 
North Hospital will be unaffordable. 

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

35000

40000

45000

2007 2008 2009

Acute & Elective Throughput

Acute CWDs Elective CWDs

MidCentral Health... must reduce costs by 
$10m (or 4%). This is a short term imperative... 
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MidCentral DHB has done well in reducing non-
clinical costs, such as cleaning, hotel, building 
and corporate costs. Indeed, our success in this 
area has greatly assisted us in achieving the 
strong balance sheet we experienced over the 
last eight years. We are now looking to further 
reduce these costs by combining functions with 
neighbouring DHBs wherever possible. During 
2008/09 MidCentral DHB’s financial information 
system was adopted by Whanganui DHB. Next 
year will see contracts for hotel, building and 
engineering services which cover three DHBs. 

Other areas of cost are also being reviewed, as 
well as MidCentral Health’s management 
structure. This work will continue and be a key 
focus next year. 

Financial 
For the first time in eight years we did not meet 
budget. This was largely due to rising cost 
structures within our hospital division, MidCentral 
Health, and the growing acute demand. This 
was a very disappointing result, and plans are in 
place to reduce costs and better manage 
demand. 

 

The DHB continues to enjoy a sound balance 
sheet, and has built up cash reserves which will 
go part way to meeting capital expenditure 
demands. 

Technology 

MidCentral DHB has a new, state-of-the art 
radiation therapy machine. The machine (a 
linear accelerator) was commissioned in 
December 2008 and is now treating 35 patients 
a day. Its implementation didn’t go as smoothly 
as envisaged, but patients and clinicians are 
now benefiting. 

A radiology information system/picture  
archival system was implemented at the  
end of the year enabling clinicians to access  
x-rays at the click of a button. No longer do 
they have to get the x-rays physically brought 
to them.  

Plans for upgrading the patient management 
system got underway and a lot of time  
was spent with clinicians to determine  
their needs. This information system project  
is being done in collaboration with seven  
other DHBs, and will continue over the next  
two years. 
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For the first time in eight years we 
did not meet budget. 



MDHB 2008/09 Annual Report, Page 8 

Primary Care 

Primary health care services are forging ahead. 
Great ingenuity is at play, with the district’s 
innovations being picked up nationally. 

Primary health care providers, ably supported 
by Primary Health Organisations, are striding 
ahead. More services are being provided, 
particularly to people with chronic conditions, 
as a result of MidCentral DHB’s investment over 
the past three years. The community chronic 
care teams chalked up over 25,000 patient 
contacts during the year, and 4,250 people 
received diabetes annual reviews under the 
Diabetes Get Checked Programme – up from 
just over 3,000 the previous year. The number of 
GP consults in the district for 2008/09 was 
584,244, equating to about 3.6 visits for every 
man woman and child. The 65+ population are 
the highest users of GP visits, on average visiting 
the GP more than twice as often.  

The DHB’s investment in primary health care has 
seen the workforce expand. In particular, there 
are more primary care nurses and they are 
becoming more skilled. Within the district there 
are a number of nurse practitioner candidates 
in training, specialising in primary scopes of 
practice, such as children, family and elder 
care. We have also expanded MidCentral 
DHB’s role as a generalist training base for 
doctors, with four GP registrars receiving 
training in local practices during the year. Eight 
final year medical students did placements at 
the DHB, including a GP-based placement. 
(See also “workforce”.)  

GPs continue to take on more work previously 
done in a hospital setting, and this focus will 
continue next year. During the year, a local  

neurologist and a GP have been working 
together on ways that GPs can diagnose and 
manage TIAs (transient ischaemic attacks or 
mini strokes). 

This exciting development is a New Zealand first 
and reflects the ingenuity and passion which 
exists locally. GPs will be able to use the 
decision support software in their practices to 
assess patients and, if clinically warranted, to 
refer them for radiology exams. This will ensure 
timely diagnosis and treatment without visiting 
the hospital. This initiative builds on decision 
support software provided to practices by the 
DHB – software that supports Cardiovascular 
Risk Assessment. What comes next? Well, there 
are several ideas so watch this space. 

Looking long term, new concepts and 
standards for the provision of primary health 
care have seen the need for GPs to 
incorporate themselves into a team, both with 
other general practices and with other primary 
care providers. Again, the district’s primary care 
sector is moving steadily ahead. During the 
past 12 months, the Otaki Medical Centre 
expanded and is now a hub for many services. 
In the Tararua, GPs joined forces and now have 
a shared business in which they operate their 
own practices. They are establishing a common 
information system and shared clinical 
training/development. Tararua is a rural area, 
the population is wide-spread, and this model 
will ensure primary health care services can 
continue to operate in a viable manner. In the 
Manawatu, the District Council’s Community 
Trust stepped forward during the year to lead a 
team of primary care providers and community 
leaders to develop the concept of a large 
primary care centre. The results of this work will 
come to fruition in 2009/10. 

Great ingenuity is at play, with the district’s 
innovations being picked up nationally. 
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More general practices in the district are 
seeking cornerstone accreditation – an 
external, independent rating of the quality of 
their practice. Cornerstone accreditation is 
based on quality standards set by the Royal 
Australasian College of GPs and aims to 
improve the quality of care provided. It sets 
standards around patient care, management 
of patient information, quality improvement 
and professional development of staff. 
Individual practices are then assessed against 
these standards on a regular basis. During 
2008/09 14 practices were involved in the 
programme, with three being fully accredited. 
An after-hours plan was developed for general 
practice throughout the district, and plans are 
underway to build on this, such as each area 
having one after-hours telephone number, a 
strengthened central service, and a new 
general practice position of Medical Director – 
After Hours. 

Child and Youth 
Over 1,300 pre-school children received a 
comprehensive check up before starting school 
during the year. The B4 school check 
programme is a national initiative, and its 
implementation in MidCentral DHB’s district has 
been one of the most successful in the country. 
Plunket, in conjunction with Maori/Iwi providers 
and the public health service, are responsible 
for the service locally. 

The antenatal HIV screening programme was 
also rolled out during the year.  

Children in care clinics got underway in April. 
This is a collaborative initiative with Child, Youth 
& Family Services (CYFS) and supports all 
children going into care, providing them with a 
thorough health assessment. MidCentral DHB’s 
community paediatric team pioneered this 
initiative, and such was its success the concept 
was picked up by the Ministry of Health who 
established four pilot sites across the country. A 
great achievement and further recognition of 
local innovation. 

MidCentral DHB will take over responsibility for 
ensuring health services are provided to the 
local youth justice facility as from 1 July 2009, 
and these arrangements are now in place. 

Work is underway to have a school based 
health service up and running early next year 
for the 1,400 young people attending Decile 1 
and 2 schools, Kura, alternative education 
programmes, and teen parenting units. Nurses 
will provide onsite health assessments for Year 9 
students, health promotion and other personal 
health services. A priority is re-establishing the 
links between the student and their key primary 
care provider as required.  

Immunisation targets remain an area of 
concern. Around 74% of children are fully 
immunised at 24 months of age, when our 
target is 86%. This will be a key focus for 2009/10 
and additional resources will be added. 

The Universal new born hearing screening will 
also roll out in 2009/10.  

MDHB’s community paediatric team pioneered this 
initiative, and such was its success, the concept was 
picked up by the Ministry of Health... 
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Balancing short and long term 
imperatives for the health of our 

community – that’s the challenge. 
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Elder Health 
MidCentral DHB took a “zero tolerance” 
approach to any failure to meet the required 
standards of care provided in aged residential 
care facilities. It responded quickly to a local 
quality issue which was highlighted through 
routine audit, and worked with the facility to 
put new arrangements in place to safeguard 
patient’s rights to quality care. The DHB also 
visited all aged residential care facilities in the 
district to reinforce the standard of care 
required, and a programme of additional 
audits was established. 

Pandemic 
2009 will be a year remembered throughout the 
world for Swine Flu. Locally, a great response to 
this pandemic was provided. Public health, 
primary health and other services moved 
quickly to contain this virus and to minimise its 
spread.  

Our Emergency Operations Centre went into 
operation to co-ordinate the DHB’s response, 
and work with primary care providers ensured 
Community Based Assessment Clinics (CBACs) 
were on standby if required. 

The threat of a major pandemic always exists, 
and the quality of our response, and that of 
New Zealand, to the 2009 Swine Flu proves we 
are well prepared and have robust systems in 
place. 

Workforce 
MidCentral DHB employs over 2,100 staff (full 
time equivalents). Over half are of NZ European  

ethnicity, and 6% are Maori. The majority of staff 
employed (73%) are health professionals. 

Throughout the year, the DHB enjoyed good 
staff turnover and staff stability rates, averaging 
0.71% and 99.76% per year respectively.  

MidCentral DHB works hard to provide a 
healthy, safe work environment for staff, and 
this was reflected in it maintaining ACC 
Accredited Employer tertiary status – a status it 
has held since 2000. As part of its healthy staff 
programme, the DHB has a no-lift policy and 
this was further enhanced this year when an 
overhead hoist system was installed in a five-
bedded room within a medical ward at 
Palmerston North Hospital. The system has the 
capacity to support individual patients 
weighing up 455kg moving from their hospital 
beds to a chair, to the bathroom or to support 
them as they practice walking. The medical 
ward was chosen because there are more very 
heavy medical patients, and also stroke 
patients who require intensive mobilising 
assistance and input from staff for treatment 
and rehabilitation. 

To support staff maintain personal health, the 
‘NextSteppers’ Programme, was launched in 
October 2008 with over 170 participants. Not 
long after, staff were offered access to a 
weight loss programme provided on site by 
Weigh Watcher’s New Zealand. Over 220 staff 
took up the offer and achieved a weight loss in 
excess of 1000 kg. MidCentral DHB has been 
the most successful Weight Watchers at Work 
programme in New Zealand. 

Support for students and employment based 
learning continues to grow. 

2009 will be a year remembered throughout the world  
for Swine Flu. Locally, a great response was provided. 
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On 24 November 2008, seven 6th-year  
University of Otago medical students  
became the first intake of undergraduates  
to begin a year-long placement in the 
MidCentral District Health Board region.  
The intake is the first result of a Memorandum  
of Understanding agreement between the 
University of Otago’s Wellington campus,  
and the DHB. Final-year medical students will 
spend the year in the district rotating through 
different areas of medical work in both the 
hospital and in general practice. The 
programme is having great success, with four 
signing up for jobs as House Officers at 
Palmerston North Hospital at the end of their 
term, and the 11 places on next year’s 
programme have been oversubscribed.  

Strong clinical management partnerships exist 
with the DHB and its district, and these were 
further expanded during the year with the 
establishment of a regional Clinical Leadership 
Group comprising 53 clinicians to provide 
expert clinical and professional advice to the 
Regional Clinical Services Plan project. The first 
sub-regional joint Clinical Director role was 
established, being Regional Women’s Health 
Clinical Director. This role leads the combined 
service established between Whanganui and 
MidCentral DHBs. A paediatric clinical network 
between the two DHBs is also being 
established. 

A lot of work was done to promote MidCentral 
DHB as a workplace of choice, and we also 
participate in the national initiatives, such as 
the new Healthcareer’s brand and the In-Zone 
bus, which launched health as a career. of 
choice within schools. 

Quality 
MidCentral DHB was proud to be re-accredited 
and re-certified for three years under the 
Quality Health New Zealand Standards and the 
Health & Disability Sector (Safety) Act 2000 
respectively. This independent assessment took 
place in May 2009 and provides external 
validation of the quality improvement systems 
we have established. 

The Optimising the Patient’s Journey initiative 
commenced at MidCentral Health. Further 
quality improvement programmes will be 
implemented next year to include the national 
hand hygiene programme. 

centralAlliance 
A formal alliance was established with 
Whanganui DHB, with Ministerial support. Under 
the alliance, the two DHBs will work closely 
together, establishing shared services where 
appropriate, to benefit their communities. The 
new arrangements will cover all aspects of a 
DHB, including funding/planning, service 
provision, corporate and governance. 

Iwi Partner 
In 2009 a Maori Responsiveness Framework was 
developed in conjunction with Manawhenua 
Hauroa, the DHB’s Iwi partner. The framework 
will assist both Manawhenua Hauora and the 
DHB monitor and measure gains being made in 
Maori health. 

We are very appreciative of the advice and 
expertise provided by Manawhenua Hauora 
throughout the year. 

MidCentral DHB was proud to be  
re-accredited and recertified. 
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Where the Money Goes 
Many people ask how the millions managed by MidCentral DHB are used and where the money 
goes. It is spent on a range of health and disability services across many providers as set out below. 
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Statement of Service Performance 
 

Cancer: Our Health Priority 1 

Target Areas 

Increased cervical and breast screening rates, and, a maximum wait time of six weeks for radiation 
oncology treatment. 

Why these Targets are Important  

Effective screening and early detection enables the incidence of cancer to be reduced. This, 
combined with timely treatment is important for improving outcomes and providing a better quality 
of life. Waiting times for radiation treatment indicate how well the cancer treatment system is 
working by measuring one part of the patient’s journey with cancer. 

2008/09 Target Achievement in Summary 

Breast screening target rates were achieved and improvements made in the number of people 
screened for cervical cancer and the rate at which people received radiation oncology treatment. 

 

Long term outcome: An increase in cervical screening and breast screening rates 

Measure 1: 
Proportion of eligible (target) BreastScreen Coast to 
Coast (BSCC) population screened for breast cancer. 
 

2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 Target 

110.4% 95% 101% 100% 

Comment: 
Target achieved. Breast screening services were 
provided to 27,751 women of the target (27,612) 
population. 

 

 
 

Data source: BreastScreen Coast to Coast. 
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Measure 2: 
Proportion of eligible population screened for cervical 
cancer (coverage rate: Manawatu-Wanganui districts). 
 

2007/08 2008/09** Target 

MidCentral 68.7% 
Wanganui  69.3% 

MidCentral 71.6% 
Wanganui  70.8% 

75% 

** As at end March 2009 

Comment: 
Screening rates increased but still behind target. Further 
progress required to meet target screening rate.  

Data source: National Screening Unit. 

Long term outcome: Increased access to, and effectiveness of, regional cancer treatment services 

Measure: 
Proportion of patients (excluding Category D) waiting less than six weeks between first specialist assessment and the 
start of radiation oncology treatment. 

 MidCentral 
Cancer Centre 

MidCentral 
DHB Residents 

Target 

Patients waiting less than six weeks 795 275  

Patients treated 971 341  

% patients waiting less than six weeks between FSA and start 
of radiation oncology treatment 

82% 81% 100% 

Results are provided for the total area served by MidCentral DHB’s regional cancer treatment service, and, for 
MidCentral DHB domicile patients only. 

Comment: 
For 2008/09, the target waiting time between first 
specialist assessment (FSA) and start of treatment was 
reduced from eight weeks to six weeks. MidCentral 
DHB did not achieve the new target. 
A new linear accelerator was commissioned in 
February 2009 which increased the DHB’s capacity, 
enabling it to treat more patients. Use of the old 
linear accelerator continued as a short term means 
of managing wait times, and patients were referred 
to other sites for treatment where appropriate. Some 
people chose not to commence their treatment 
within the six-week guideline and consequently register as “waiting greater than six weeks”. 
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Cardiovascular: Our Health Priority 2 

Target Area 

Cardiovascular risk assessments conducted for at risk population groups. 

Why this Target is Important 

If primary health care practitioners can identify people early who are at risk of cardiovascular 
disease/stroke, they can put a programme in place to monitor the risk factors and focus on 
prevention and management of the disease process. 

2008/09 Target Achievement in Summary 

A proxy measure for cardiovascular disease (CVD) was introduced by the Ministry of Health in the 
second quarter of 2008/09 as while good progress is being made in implementing the national 
Primary Health Organisations’ Monitoring Framework, it is still too early to report data for the absolute 
CVD. The proxy measure focused on laboratory testing for lipids, glucose and HBA1c as a 
mechanism to assess risk for CVD. This measure replaces the one listed in MidCentral DHB’s 
Statement of Intent (people who have had their five year absolute CVS risk recorded in the last five 
years). 

Long term outcome: An increase in the early recognition of individuals at risk of cardiovascular disease/stroke 

Measure 1: 
The proportion of eligible population that have received a fasting lipids test and a serum glucose or HBA1c test within 
the last five years. 
 

 To March 2008 To March 2009 Target 

 MDHB All DHBs MDHB All DHBs  

All ethnicities 76.6% 69.5% 78.2% 70.8% 78.5% 

Source: NZHIS Lab Warehouse 

Comment: 
MidCentral DHB’s rates for fasting lipids and serum glucose testing is 78.2%. This is an improvement on the prior year 
result and is close to target. 
To June 2009, 3,782 people had their absolute CVD risk assessment recorded using the local Best Practice tool as 
reported via the PHO Monitoring Programme. 
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MidCentral DHB – 
building a healthy future. 
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Child Health: Our Health Priority 3 

Target Areas 

Improved immunisation cover for children. 

Why these Targets are Important 

Immunisation aims to prevent the spread of vaccine preventable diseases in a community and 
protect children against a range of serious diseases, such as measles, mumps and rubella. 

2008/09 Target Achievement in Summary 

The target number of eligible newborns enrolled with the National Immunisation Register was 
achieved. An improved immunisation coverage rate was achieved, although there is still some way 
to go before reaching target. 

 

Long term outcome: Improved immunisation cover 

Measure 1: 
Percent of eligible newborns born and enrolled on the 
National Immunisation Register (NIR) in the reporting 
period. 

 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 Target 

Total 95% 92.4% 100% 96% 

 
Comment: 
Achieved. All eligible newborns are enrolled on the 
National Immunisation Register. 
 

 

 

Data source: National Immunisation Register. 
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Measure 2: 
Percentage of children on the NIR up to date  
with immunisation on the day they turned a  
specific age (24 months) during the reporting  
period – total population (NIR eligible children from 
2008/09 only). 
 

Fully immunised for age (24 months). 

 2007/08 2008/09 Target 

Total 73% 77% 82% 

Maori n/a 69% 65% 

Pacific n/a 77% 65% 

 

Comment: 
Target access rates for Maori and Pacific Island  
children were achieved. Ongoing attention to  
achieving the total target is required and will be  
a key focus in 2009/10. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Data source: National Immunisation Register. 
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Diabetes: Our Health Priority 4 

Target Areas 

An increased number of people with diabetes receiving regular checks and eye screening, and, 
whose blood glucose level shows their diabetes is being well managed. 

Why these Targets are Important 

Diabetes is a condition that requires constant attention, and if it is well managed people can lead a 
healthy life. Measuring the number of people who have an annual check and regular eye 
screening, and their blood glucose levels gives a good indication of the effectiveness of diabetes 
management. 

2008/09 Target Achievement in Summary 

The number of people with diabetes accessing their annual checks significantly increased in 2008/09 
exceeding target. This reflects the focus given to this programme by Primary Health Organisations. 
Good diabetes management, with low HBA1c levels, was attained for the non-Maori/Pacific group. 
Retinal screening targets were achieved. 

Long term outcome: To increase case detection and case management rates for diabetes 

Measure 1: 
Diabetes follow up: Percentage of expected number of 
people with Type I or II diabetes mellitus on a diabetes 
register, whose date of their free annual check is during 
the reporting period.  

 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 Target 

Total 53.4% 63% 128% 49% 

Maori 32.1% 38% 99% 51% 

Pacific 51.6% 70% 186% 27% 

Other 60.0% 70% 132% 49% 

Comment: 
There has been a sustainable improvement in the number 
of people accessing their annual checks – exceeding 
target. 

 
 

 

Data source: PHO Performance Management Programme. 
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Measure 2: 
Diabetes management: Percentage of people with type I 
or type II diabetes mellitus on a diabetes register that had 
an HbA1c level of equal to or less than 8% and the date of 
their free annual check is during the reporting period. 

 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 Target 

Total 73.2% 69.8% 73% 74% 

Maori 59.6% 52.1% 60% 65% 

Pacific 50.8% 54.5% 47% 65% 

Other 76.0% 73.1% 76% 76% 

Comment 
Target close to being achieved. Most results show an 
improvement on the prior year. Results for Pacific Island 
patients affected by low volumes. 

 

Data source: PHO Performance Management Programme. 
Measure 3: 
Diabetes retinopathy screening: Percentage of people 
with Type I or II diabetes mellitus on a diabetes register that 
have had retinal screening or an ophthalmologist 
examination in the last two years and the date of their free 
annual check is during the reporting period. 

 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 Target 

Total 90.3% 86% 91% 90% 

Maori 85.7% 83% 88% 80% 

Pacific 85.2% 80% 90% 80% 

Other 91.2% 84% 91% 91% 

Comment: 
Targets exceeded. 

 

 

 

Data source: PHO Performance Management Programme. 
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The number of people accessing their annual diabetes check 
increased significantly, exceeding target. 
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Health of Older People: Our Health Priority 5 

Target Area 

Needs assessments for elderly people in hospital are conducted within three days. 

Why this Target is Important 

Timely assessment (and re-assessment) of the needs of older people ensures they can access 
community or home-based care and support in a timely manner to maintain as much 
independence as possible. Measuring the waiting times for these assessments is a good indicator of 
the system’s responsiveness. 

2008/09 Target Achievement in Summary 

Not achieved.  

 

Long term outcome: An increase in access to home based rehabilitation and support services, and respite care for older 
people 

Measure: 
Proportion of support needs assessments for persons aged 65+ years completed within specified target of three working 
days of referral from MidCentral Health providers.  
 

2007/08 2008/09 Target 

28% 30.5% 100% 

 

Comment: 
Although this rate is a modest improvement on the previous year’s result, it is still well below expectations and reflects 
increasing number of referrals received for support assessment. These cannot be met within the target timeframe within 
existing resources. 
 

 
  



 

h
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More work required to ensure older 
people can access community or 

home-based care in a timely manner. 
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Maori Health: Our Health Priority 6 

Target Areas 

Increased spend on Maori health and disability services, and targeted care protocols to improve 
Maori access to services. 

Why these Targets are Important 

The level of expenditure on Maori health and disability services gives an indication of the availability 
of services for Maori. Measuring the programmes in place to ensure mainstream services are 
culturally appropriate, and therefore more likely to be accessed by Maori as required. 

2008/09 Target Achievement in Summary 

Substantially achieved, with plans to continue the focus on the accessibility and effectiveness of 
services for Maori. 

 

Long term outcome: Increase the capacity and capability of the Maori workforce and Iwi/Maori providers 

Measure : 
Maori health and disability service expenditure 
increased in line with targets set. 
 

2007/08 2008/09 Target 

$4,845,000 $5,434,000 $5,498,000 

 

Comment: 
Under expenditure of $64,000 compared to budget for 
the year, although the total sum expended was 
$589,000 greater than in 2007/08. 
 

 
 

 

Data source: DHB Funding Division. 
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Long term outcome: Improved access to, and effectiveness of, mainstream services for Maori 

Measure 1: 
Target number of pathways of care focusing on improving access to effective services for Maori have been 
reviewed and actions taken to address issues identified in the reviews by end of year.  

2007/08 2008/09 Target 

2 2 2 

Comment: 
Achieved. Two reviews of pathways of care were undertaken during the year. 
In 2008 patient feedback was sought to determine the effectiveness of hospital services provided to Maori. The 
Kaiawhina of the Kia Ora Service provided patient/whanau feedback by way of evaluations taken from July to 
September 2008. While the survey numbers were modest the results provided an indication of satisfaction levels for 
Maori accessing services at Palmerston North Hospital. The feedback highlighted some important factors to address 
within the hospital, particularly discharge planning and follow-up requirements. The provision of information about 
the Maori Health Service was also identified as an area for improvement. 
The Whanau Ora tool is designed to assist organisations to give effect to the mainstream policies and strategic 
pathways woven in He Korowai Oranga, Maori Health Strategy 2002. The aim of the tool is for Maori whanau to be 
supported to achieve fullness of healthcare and well-being, as defined by Maori for Maori, within a Te Ao Maori 
and Aotearoa New Zealand context. This tool is now being discussed within the DHB community Iwi/Maori service 
providers in the MidCentral region for application at a local level 
to enhance improving mainstream effectiveness of general 
health services to Maori. The intention is to embed the tool  
across the DHB as a practical guide to being responsive to  
Maori and whanau and for the development of health 
programmes where whanau, hapu iwi and Maori  
communities have a leading role in achieving whanau ora. 

Measure 2: 
Percentage of (access funded) PHO effectively collecting 
ethnicity data.  

2007/08 2008/09 Target 

100% 100% 75% 

Comment: 
All four Primary Health Organisations (PHOs) collect ethnicity 
data. 
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Mental Health: Our Health Priority 7 

Target Area 
Use of mental health services is in line with projected demand. 

Why this Target is important 
A responsive mental health service ensures people with a serious mental illness are able to access 
assessment, treatment and support services as required. Measuring the number of people who 
access services as a proportion of expected demand gives an indication of access levels. 

2008/09 Target Achievement in Summary 
Target access rates were achieved in almost all population groups. 

Long term outcome: Increased access to mental health services 

Measure: 
Proportion of projected domiciled population seen on 
average (annual). 

Age (years) 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 Target 

0-19 

Total 1.6% 1.9% 1.9% 2.0% 

Maori 1.4% 1.5% 1.3% 2.0% 

Other 1.7% 2.0% 2.2% 2.0% 

20-64 

Total 2.5% 2.5% 3.0% 2.6% 

Maori 3.3% 3.3% 3.8% 2.6% 

Other 2.3% 2.5% 2.8% 2.6% 

65+ 

Total 0.3% 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 

Maori 0.3% 0.4% 0.4% 0.5% 

Other 0.3% 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 

Comment: 
The national collection system for Mental Health data 
(PRIMHD) changed during the year and resulted in an 
incomplete data set. Using MidCentral DHB’s local data 
collection system, the target access rates were achieved for 
all groups except children/youth (Maori and total) and Maori 
elderly. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Data source: MidCentral DHB Community Health Information Programme: 
census population projections for 2008/09 
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A responsive mental health 
service is important. 
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Oral Health: Our Health Priority 8 

Target Areas 

A reduction in the number of children/youths with dental caries. 

Why these Targets are Important 

Encouraging children to have good dental hygiene and preventative dental care will promote 
good oral health for life. Measuring the number of children who are caries-free, and those who have 
decayed, missing or filled teeth is a good indicator of oral health. 

2008/09 Target Achievement in Summary 

A significant improvement in the number of caries free children aged five years was achieved, 
exceeding target levels for both fluoridated and non-fluoridated areas of the district. Improvements 
were also made in the decayed, missing and filled teeth scores for Year 8 children compared to 
2007, but some were under target. 

Long term outcome: A reduction in the number of dental caries in our district’s child and youth populations 

Measure 1: 
Percentage of children caries free at age five years (at 
the commencement of dental care), in the year to 
which the reporting relates, examined by the DHB School 
Dental Service (SDS), by ethnic group. 

 2006 2007 2008 Target 

Total F 
61.7% 

56.2% 61% 58% 
Total NF 45.1% 49% 46% 
Maori F 

44.1% 
39.4% 42% 42% 

Maori NF 24.9% 31% 25% 
Pacific F 

43.8% 
18.4% 40% 20% 

Pacific NF 31.3% 41% 32% 
Other F 

69.4% 
64.4% 69% 66% 

Other NF 55.9% 58% 56% 
Data is based on calendar year.  
F = fluoridated. NF = non-fluoridated. 

Comment: 
All targets achieved or exceeded. 

 
 

Data source: MidCentral Health School Dental Service. 
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Measure 2: 
Mean score of Decayed, Missing and Filled Teeth of  
Year 8 (Form 2) children at the last dental examination 
before the child leaves the DHB School Dental Service 
(SDS). For fluoridated (F) and non-fluoridated (NF) 
populations. 
 
 

 2006 2007 2008 Target 

Total F 
1.6 

1.7 1.6 1.5 

Total NF 1.6 1.5 1.6 

Maori F 
2.3 

2.4 2.2 2.0 

Maori NF 2.1 2.1 2.0 

Pacific F 
2.0 

2.6 2.3 2.5 

Pacific NF 1.6 2.6 1.8 

Other F 
1.4 

1.4 1.4 1.3 

Other NF 1.4 1.2 1.3 

Data is based on calendar year. F = fluoridated. NF = non-
fluoridated 

Comment: 
Although improved in almost all ethnic and fluoridation 
status groups compared to the 2007 results, the mean 
scores were under target for some categories. 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Data source: MidCentral Health School Dental Service. 
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A significant improvement in the number 
of caries free children aged five years. 

Targets exceeded! 
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Respiratory: Our Health Priority 9 

Target Areas 

Reducing the number of children/youths who require admission to hospital for asthma. 

Why these Targets are important 

Improved access to and uptake of, effective asthma self-management strategies reduces the 
impact of the disease. Low hospital discharge rates for asthma indicate how effective self-
management strategies are and how well primary and community-based services are responding to 
the care and treatment of people with asthma, by measuring those for whom a higher level of 
intervention was required, ie hospital care (measured as hospital discharge). 

2008/09 Target Achievement in Summary 

The target rates for all ethnic groups were achieved.  

Long term outcome: An increase in access to, and uptake of, effective asthma prevention and self-management  
strategies 

Measure: 
The proportion of children and young people in our 
district who have been discharged from hospital with a 
diagnosis of asthma 
• Discharge rate per 1,000 population aged under 5 

years. 
 

 2006 2007 2008 Target 

Total 7.7 8.7 7.9 6.3-11.1 

Maori 10.1 8.6 10.8 4.4-12.4 

Pacific 14.6 12.2 12.2 -- 

Other 6.0 8.6 5.9 5.7-11.8 

Data is based on calendar year. 
 

 

 

Data source: NMDS Public Hospital Data (MoH). 
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• Discharge rate per 1,000 population aged  
5–14 years. 

 

 2006 2007 2008 Target 

Total 1.7 1.9 1.7 1.3-2.8 

Maori 2.1 2.0 2.0 1.2-4.5 

Pacific -- -- -- -- 

Other 1.3 2.0 1.5 1.1-2.9 

Data is based on calendar year 
-- = number of discharges is less than 5. 

Comment: 
Rates achieved are within target range for all 
ethnic groups. 
 

 

 

Data source: NMDS Public Hospital Data (MoH). 
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Rural Health: Our Health Priority 10 

Target Areas 

Appropriate GP levels and workloads in rural areas. 

Why these Targets are important 

General practitioners are the health professionals most
load, and the complexity of that load, indicates how a

2008/09 Target Achievement in Summary 

Targets exceeded. General Practitioners are seeing hig
their general population. The ratio of GPs for the distric

 

  

t seen by people, and measuring their client 
accessible this care is to the rural population. 

gh need enrolees at a rate slightly higher than 
ct’s areas is better than target. 
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Long term outcome: Enhance capability and capacity requirements of the district’s primary sector 

Measure: 
The ratio of age-standardised rate of GP consultations per high need person to non-high need person.  
 

 2007/08 2008/09 Target 

MidCentral DHB 1.11 : 1.0 1.1 : 1.0 1.0 : 1.0 

• Horowhenua PHO:  1.08  

• Manawatu PHO:  1.05  

• Otaki PHO:  1.01  

• Tararua PHO:  1.3  

Comment: 
Utilisation by high need enrolees (total population) – GP Consults achieved a ratio of 1.1 during the year which is better 
than target. All PHOs exceeded the target ratio. 
 

Long term outcome: Service coverage for MidCentral DHB’s district maintained 

Measure: 
Shared roster areas are equal to or better than GP:population ratio of 1:2,000 as at end June 2009. 

a) Dannevirke          b) Pahiatua          c) Foxton          d) Otaki. 

District* Population* 2007/08 2008/09 Target 

  GPs Ratio GPs Ratio  

MidCentral DHB 159,716 105 1:1,521 100 1:1,597 1:2,000 

Tararua 17,634 11 1:1,603 9 1:1,959 1:2,000 

Horowhenua 29,865 18 1:1,659 18 1:1,659 1:2,000 

Otaki 7,551 4 1:1,888 6 1:1,259 1:2,000 

Manawatu/Palmerston North 103,797 72 1:1,442 67 1:1,549 1:2,000 

* Data available by PHO only.  Population: 2006 census usually resident population. 

Comment: 
Target achieved. Throughout the DHB all geographic locations had a GP to population ratio better than the target 
value. 
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Delivering and Funding Health & Disability Services 

Target Areas 

The level of services purchased, service quality and service gaps. 

Delivery of agreed levels of hospital care, customer satisfaction rates, wait times for elective and 
emergency care, and staff turnover. 

Why these Targets are important 

The DHB is the Crown entity responsible for planning and purchasing most health services and some 
disability services for its district. It is responsible for $478 million. It is important that the DHB’s 
population has access to a wide range of health and disability services. Two means of monitoring 
this, are measuring any service gaps, and, the number of people who had to be admitted to 
hospital for conditions which were available or preventable through adequate primary health care. 

The DHB is also the provider of publicly-funded hospital services. It is important that it delivers agreed 
volumes, and provides these in a timely manner and to an agreed standard. Customer satisfaction 
rates and wait times for elective and emergency care are good indicators. 

The DHB employs over 2,000 staff (full time equivalents) and it is important it is a good employer. 
Measuring staff turnover levels is a good indicator of employee satisfaction levels. 

2008/09 Target Achievement in Summary 

Six targets achieved, one not achieved and two partially achieved. 

 

Measure 2008/09 Target 
2008/09 
Actual Comment 

Funding and Planning Function     

Health and disability services  
to the value of $410 m  
purchased for MDHB’s district 

=<1% variance in  
total value of DHB  
funded services 
purchased 

2% variance A greater level of services 
purchased against target 
except Maori health services. 

• Primary Care Services $95.2 $96.9  

• Secondary Care Services $215.8m $220.6  

• Mental Health Services, $36.7m $37.5m  
• Disability Support Services (for 

Elderly) 
$59.7m $60.8m  

• Maori Health Services $1.8m $1.6m  
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Measure 2008/09 Target 2008/09 Actual Comment 

Funding and Planning Function cont    

The rate of admissions to hospital 
that are avoidable or preventable 
by primary health care are reduced 
across all population groups.  

   

Maori:   Target achieved. No 
age or ethnic group had 
avoidable admissions 
greater than target 
value. 
 
Data is for 2008 calendar year. 

 

• 0-74 years <95% 75.9% 
• 0-4 years <95% 71.6% 
• 45-64 years <95% 62.5% 
Other   
• 0-74 years <95% 89.8% 
• 0-4 years <95% 89.8% 
• 45-64 years <95% 88.3% 
Total    
• 0-74 years <95% 86.5%  
• 0-4 years <95% 83.0%  
• 45-64 years <95% 83.8%  
Service coverage gaps identified 
during annual planning round are 
addressed by year end. 

Nil Nil Achieved 

Provider Function  2008/09 Target   

Health and disability services 
provided as per the Provider Arm 
Volume Schedule: 

=<1% variance in total value 
of DHB funded provider 
services delivered 

>5.6% Services provided in 
excess of target. 

Personal Health Services  $160.8 $174.9  
• Allied Health $1.8m $1.8m  
• Child & Youth $0.9m $0.9m  
• Community Referred $1.9m $2.9m  
• Dental $4.2m $4.0m  
• Domiciliary, $5.6m $5.7m  
• Electives (GP Co-ordination) $0.2m $0.2m  
• Emergency Services $3.6m $5.3m  
• Medical $76.9m $82.1  
• Rural $2.5m $2.5m  
• Sexual Health $0.7m $0.7m  
• Surgical $53.9m $57.4m  
• Transport $0.7m $0.7m  
• Maternity $10.4m $10.7m  
Mental Health $25.4m $26.5m  
Health of Older People $10.0m $11.3m  
Local Projects $20.4m $18.7m  
Internal Revenue (DHB Fund to DHB 
Provider) 

$219.1m $231.4m  

 
  

The DHB is responsible for $478m. It is important its population has 
access to a wide range of health and disability services. 
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 2007/08 2008/09 Target Comment 

Provider Function cont     

% Overall Patients’ 
Satisfaction Rate: the 
proportion of inpatients 
and outpatients 
responding to the 
survey whose rating of 
their overall satisfaction 
with services delivered 
was “good – very 
good”. 

87% 87% >85% Target achieved. The majority of patients indicate overall 
satisfaction with MidCentral Health’s services. 

 

Data source: MDHB Patient Satisfaction Database. 
 

% Staff turnover rate 
(voluntary) average per 
month: the proportion 
of MidCentral Health 
staff (excluding 
temporary, casual staff 
and resident medical 
officers) who voluntarily 
resign from the 
organisation, on 
average, each month. 

0.8% 0.7% <=1.3% Target achieved. MidCentral Health continues to enjoy a 
stable workforce. 

 

Data source: MDHB MCHL Reports. 
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satisfaction with MidCentral Health’s services. 
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 2007/08 2008/09 Target Comment 

Reduced proportion 
of people waiting 
greater than six 
months for a first 
specialist assessment 
for medical and 
surgical services 

(NB: During the year 
the methodology was 
aligned to Elective 
Service Patient Flow 
Indicator (ESPI) 2 
which included both 
medical and surgical 
services.  As a 
consequence, the 
comparative result 
has been restated to 
ensure 
comparability.) 

1.8% 0.8% 1.0% Achieved. Fewer than 1% of patients were waiting longer  
than six months for their first specialist appointment as at  
the end of June 2009. 

 

Data source: Ministry of Health Elective Services Online. 

 
 

Reduced proportion 
of people given 
certainty of treatment 
waiting greater than 
six months for surgery 
(post FSA) as a 
proportion of patients 
given a commitment 
to treatment as at 
end of June 2009. 

4.6% 3.5% 3.0% Close to target. Continued improvements are expected in  
order to achieve target. 

 

 

Data source: National Booking Reporting System. 
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 2007/08 2008/09 Target Comment 

Improved triage wait 
times: 

Proportion of people who 
are Triage Category 1, 2 
or 3 who are seen by a 
doctor or nurse 
(whichever is first) within 
the specified times: 

    

• Triage 1:  
% patients seen 
immediately 

100% 100% 100% Achieved for triage categories 1 & 2. While results for triage 3 
were below target value this is in the face of ongoing high 
volume of patient presentations to the department, and high 
levels of bed occupancy within the hospital. 

 

Data source: MDHB Patient Administration System. 

• Triage 2:  
% patients seen  
within 10 minutes 

88.8% 85.1% 80% 

• Triage 3:  
% patients seen  
within 30 minutes 

73.6% 68.8% 75% 
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Fewer than 1% of patients waited longer 
than six months for a first specialist 

assessment. 
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Financial Statements 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Performance 
For the year Ended 30 June 2009  

 

Budget 
June-09  
$000 

 Note Group & Parent 

  June-09  
$000 

June-08  
$000 

462,276 Revenue 1 468,486 442,548 

7,850 Other Operating Income 2 7,067 4,878 

4,449 Finance Income 5a 2,844 4,696 

474,575 Total Income  478,397 452,122 

154,910 Employee Benefit Costs 4 160,117 147,225 

12,804 Depreciation and Amortisation Expense 7,8 11,397 10,875 

19,998 Outsourced Services  25,229 22,949 

40,310 Clinical Supplies  39,919 37,281 

48,287 Infrastructure and Non-Clinical Expenses  47,112 44,388 

192,117 Payments to Non-Health Board Providers  194,549 181,974 

- Other Operating Expenses 3 528 789 

3,726 Finance Costs 5b 3,476 3,660 

7,122 Capital Charge 6 6,019 7,070 

479,274 Total Expenses  488,346 456,211 

(4,699) Loss for the Period 15 (9,949) (4,089) 
 
 
 
These financial statements are to be read in conjunction with the accounting policies and notes on  
pages 69 to 91. 
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Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expenses 
For the year Ended 30 June 2009  

 
Budget 
June-09  
$000 

 Note Group & Parent 

  June-09  
$000 

June-08  
$000 

- Gain on revaluation of land and buildings 15 18,974 - 

- Net Movement in Special Funds 15 - (79) 

- Net Income Recognised Directly in Equity  18,974 (79) 

(4,699) Loss for the Period 15 (9,949) (4,089) 

(4,699) Total Recognised Income and Expense for the Period  9,025 (4,168) 
 
 
 
 
These financial statements are to be read in conjunction with the accounting policies and notes on  
pages 69 to 91. 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year Ended 30 June 2009  

 
Budget 
June-09  
$000 

 Note Group & Parent 

  June-09  
$000 

June-08  
$000 

 Cash Flows from Operating Activities    

469,560 Cash Receipts from Ministry of Health and Patients  470,329 445,512 

(299,297) Cash Paid to Suppliers  (301,259) (289,411) 

(154,910) Cash Paid to Employees  (159,871) (142,802) 

15,353 Cash Generated from Operations  9,199 13,299 

4,750 Interest Received  2,844 4,696 

(3,726) Interest Paid  (3,474) (3,660) 

- Goods and Services Tax Received/(Paid)  451 (672) 

(7,122) Capital Charge Paid  (5,299) (10,238) 

9,255 Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities 14 3,721 3,425 

 Cash Flows from Investing Activities    

(13,020) Acquisition of Property, Plant and Equipment  (9,483) (8,076) 

(15) Acquisition of Intangible Assets  (3,338) (2,175) 

(435) Increase/(Decrease) in Investments and Restricted and Trust 
Funds Assets 

 6,398 (15,003) 

(13,470) Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities  (6,423) (25,254) 

 Cash Flows from Financing Activities    

- Distribution to the Crown  (214) (633) 

- Proceeds from Borrowings  - 5,756 

- Repayment of Borrowings  (75) - 

- Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities  (289) 5,123 

(4,215) Net Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents  (2,991) (16,706) 

24,840 Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year  20,615 37,321 

20,625 Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 14 17,624 20,615 

     

 
These financial statements are to be read in conjunction with the accounting policies and notes on  
pages 69 to 91. 
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Consolidated Statement of Contingent Liabilities 
As at 30 June 2009 

 
  Note Group & Parent 

  June-09  
$000 

June-08  
$000 

    

Legal Proceedings  400 400 

MidCentral DHB has been notified of one claim but it is not possible to assess 
the likelihood of the claim succeeding or any possible settlement sum at this 
time. 

   

     

 
 
 

Consolidated Statement of Commitments  
For the year Ended 30 June 2009 

Capital Commitments  9,444 4,188 

Non-Cancellable Commitments – Provider Commitments    

Not More than One Year  58,639 25,953 

One to Two Years  37,970 11,899 

Two to Five Years  31,148 9,673 

Over Five Years  - 117 

   127,757 47,642 

Non-Cancellable Commitments – Operating Lease Commitments    

Not More than One Year  1,867 1,503 

One to Two Years  1,588 1,190 

Two to Five Years  2,924 1,285 

Over Five Years  27 481 

  6,406 4,459 

Total Commitments  143,607 56,289 
 
 
 
These financial statements are to be read in conjunction with the accounting policies and notes on  
pages 69 to 91. 
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Auditor’s Report 
 
  



MDHB 2008/09 Annual Report, Page 48 

 
  



MDHB 2008/09 Annual Report, Page 49 

 



MDHB 2008/09 Annual Report, Page 50 

Cost of Service Statement 
 

 

 

 

Funding for District Health Boards is aligned to three 
output classes: 

• Funding 

• Governance and Funding Administration 

• DHB Hospital Provider. 

 

 

DHBs are required to show their financial performance  
against these output classes. 

 

($000) Funding Governance & 
Funding 

Administration 

DHB Hospital 
Provider 

Eliminations Total DHB 

Gross Revenue      

• Crown 419,601 3,172 269,677 (224,667) 467,783 

• Other - 2,534 8,080 - 10,614 

Total Revenue 419,601 5,706 277,757 (224,667) 478,397 

Expenses      

• Personnel - (8,639) (151,478) - (160,117) 

• Depreciation - (1,323) (10,074) - (11,397) 

• Capital Charge - (1,276) (4,743) - (6,019) 

• Other (419,216) 5,505 (121,769) 224,667 (310,813) 

Total Expenditure (419,216) (5,733) (288,064) 224,667 (488,346) 

Net Surplus/(Deficit) 385 (27) (10,307) - (9,949) 
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Governance Statement 
Effective governance of a District Health Board requires a committed Board and robust systems and 
processes. DHB governance attracted a lot of public attention during 2008/09, particularly around 
the management of conflicts of interest. On the following pages, MidCentral DHB’s governance 
practices are detailed. 

Meet the Board 

IAN WILSON, CHAIRMAN.  Appointed Member.  Commenced 1992.  

Ian is a Company Director, and has been involved in health since 1992, including membership of 
Waikato (Chairman) and Whanganui DHBs and the Ministerial Health Workforce Advisory 
Committee. He presently serves on the health sector’s National Capital Committee, Ian is a director 
of crown companies in the science, research and education sectors. Ian was awarded the Massey 
University Medal in 2004 and a QSO in 2005. He is a Fellow of the Institute of Directors and an 
Associate of the NZ Institute of Management. 

Committee Membership: Chairman of the Remuneration Committee, and a member of the Hospital, 
Community & Public Health, and Disability Support Advisory Committees, and Group Audit. 

ANN CHAPMAN, DEPUTY CHAIR.  Elected Member.  Commenced 2000.  

Ann has a clinical background, and continues her interest in Otaki community health, after being 
the founding member and Chair of the Otaki Community Health Trust. Ann is involved in local 
government, being a Councillor/Deputy Mayor for over 17 years. Ann is a JP and was awarded a 
MNZM in 2008. 

Committee Membership: Member of the Community & Public Health, Hospital, and Disability Support 
Advisory Committees, Group Audit and Remuneration Committees. 

DIANE ANDERSON.  Elected Member.  Commenced 2001.  

Diane’s background is in community and rural advocacy. She has served as a local government 
Councillor, and a member of the Conservation Board. Diane was instrumental in the establishment of 
the Eketahuna Health Centre. 

Committee Membership: Chairman of the Community & Public Health Advisory Committee, and 
Member of the Disability Support Advisory Committee and Funding Audit Sub-Committee. 

 
 
 

  

Ian Wilson Ann Chapman Diane Anderson 
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LINDSAY BURNELL.  Elected Member.  Commenced 2001.  

Lindsay Burnell has a farming operation, and holds various Directorships in the agriculture and power 
industries. Lindsay is involved in local government, being a Councillor for over 30 years. 

Committee Membership: Chairman of the Disability Support Advisory Committee. Member of the 
Hospital Advisory Committee and Enable NZ Governance Group. 

GRAEME CAMPBELL.  Elected Member.  Commenced 2007. 

Graeme is a retired doctor, and worked for many years in both the public health system and in 
private practice in Manawatu and Horowhenua area. For most of this time he was a General 
Surgeon, but latterly was Emergency Department Director for MidCentral Health.  

Committee Membership: Member of the Community & Public Health Advisory Committee, Funding 
Audit Sub-Committee and Group Audit Committee. 

JACK DRUMMOND.  Elected Member.  Commenced 2001. 

A practising GP, Jack is also National Co-ordinator of Police Forensic Medicine. He is a Fellow of the 
Australian & NZ College of GPs, and holds a Masters in Forensic Medicine. 

Committee Membership: Chairman of the Hospital Advisory Committee. Member of the 
Remuneration Committee and Hospital Audit Sub-Committee. 

DENNIS EMERY.  Appointed Member.  Commenced 2002. 

Of Ngati Maniapoto and Ngati Kauwhata descent, Dennis works with local Iwi health initiatives, and 
holds a directorship with a medical insurance provider. Prior to this he had extensive experience in 
mental health, Iwi health management, the meat industry and Trade Union movement.  

Committee Membership: Chairman of the Funding Audit Sub-Committee. Member of the 
Community & Public Health Advisory Committee, and Group Audit. 

 

  

Lindsay Burnell Graeme Campbell Jack Drummond Dennis Emery 
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JIM JEFFERIES.  Elected Member.  Commenced 2004.  

Jim is a Chartered Accountant, Business Advisor, and Company Director. Jim is also involved in local 
government, being a City Councillor since 1998. He chairs Aorangi Hospital, our locally owned 
private surgical hospital. 

Committee Membership: Chairman of the Group Audit Committee. Member of the Hospital Advisory 
Committee, and Funding and Hospital Audit Sub-Committees.  

STEPHEN PAEWAI.  Appointed Member.  Commenced 2008. 

Stephen has been involved in local health and Maori affairs for over 30 years. He has a 
management background and has worked in the health, legal, education, and Maori government 
sectors. He Chairs the Tararua Primary Health Organisation. 

Committee Membership: Chairman of the Hospital Audit Sub-Committee. Member of the Hospital 
Advisory and Group Audit Committees. 

BARBARA ROBSON.  Elected Member.  Commenced 2001. 

Barbara’s background involves consumer and community health advocacy, and dental nursing. 
She is involved in a number of national health committees, providing a consumer perspective. 

Committee Membership: Chairman of the Enable NZ Governance Group. Member of the Hospital 
Advisory Committee, Group Audit and Hospital Audit Sub-Committee. 

ORMOND STOCK.  Appointed Member.  Commenced 2007. 

Ormond Stock has an engineering and business background. He has been involved in health 
governance since 1998 and is currently a board member of both MidCentral and Whanganui District 
Health Boards. He holds a number of directorships. 

 Committee Membership: Member of the Community & Public Health Advisory and Disability Support 
Advisory Committees, and the Enable New Zealand Governance Group. 

 
 
 

Jim Jefferies Stephen Paewai Barbara Robson Ormond Stock 



The Role of the Board 

The functions carried out directly by the Board 
include: 

• approving major strategic and policy 
documents, including the District Strategic 
Plan, District Annual Plan, capital 
expenditure plan and operational 
budgets. 

• considering recommendations on key 
issues, such as the findings of the health 
needs analysis and subsequent funding 
investment Plan. 
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• maintaining and developing an effective 
working relationship with Manawhenua 
Haoura, its Iwi partner. 

• monitoring the implementation of the 
District Annual Plan and Budget, and 
ensuring all measures and initiatives are 
successfully achieved. 

• monitoring the operating performance of 
all divisions of the DHB. 

• ensuring the District Health Board acts 
legally and responsibly on all matters. 

• appointing, evaluating and rewarding the 
performance of the CEO. 

The Board establishes strategy and 
oversees its implementation. 
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MidCentral DHB’s Governance 
Structure 

The governance structure is based on the 
DHB’s three key roles, reflecting the 
management structure: 

• Planning and funding health and disability 
services for the MidCentral district;  

• Providing health and disability services to 
its communities. These services include: 
medical, surgical, women’s health, child’s 
health, elderly, disability support, mental 
health, intellectual disability, public health 
and related support services. 

• Governing the District Health Board. 

The management of MidCentral District 
Health Board comprises three divisions. Care 
has been taken to separate the funding and 
provider functions. 

1. The Funding Division, which is responsible 
for the planning and funding of health 
and disability services for the District. 

2. The Provider Division, has two key units 
being: 

• MidCentral Health, which delivers 
(hospital based) secondary and 
lower tertiary level of specialist health 
and disability services 

 

• Enable New Zealand, a national 
service provider to the disability 
sector 

3. The District Health Board Governance 
and Corporate Division, which includes 
the activities of the board, its statutory 
advisory and audit committees, the 
overall management functions of the 
District Health Board and its obligations 
and responsibilities as a body corporate 
owned by the Crown. 

Matching this, the Board has established 
seven committees, including audit 
committees, to oversee these functions. 

Care has been taken to separate the funding 
and provider functions (of the Board). 
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Role of Committees 

Community & Public Health Advisory 
Committee: 

• Advises on the district’s health status  

• Advises on priorities for the use of health 
funding. 

Disability Support Advisory Committee: 

• Advises on the district’s disability support 
needs 

• Advises on priorities for the use of disability 
support funding.  

Hospital Advisory Committee: 

• Monitors the financial and operational 
performance of MidCentral Health 

• Assesses strategic issues regarding the 
provision of hospital services. 

Enable New Zealand Governance Group: 

• Monitors the financial and operational 
performance of Enable New Zealand. 

Group Audit Committee: 

• Considers the adequacy of financial 
statements, accounting policies, and 
financial controls 

• Co-ordinates the DHB’s risk profile and 
associated internal audit plan 

• Monitors the internal audit function of the 
corporate/governance section. 

Hospital Audit Sub-Committee: 

• Ensures management reporting and 
decision-making process within Provider 
Division are robust 

• Monitors the delivery of quality health 
services 

• Develops a risk profile for this  
Division 

• Monitors associated internal audit 
programme.  

Funding Audit Sub-Committee: 

• Ensures management reporting and 
decision-making process within  
Funding Division are sound 

• Ensures contract payment process  
are adequate 

• Ensures funding received from  
Vote Health is appropriately  
accounted for  

• Develops a risk profile for this  
Division 

• Monitors associated internal audit 
programme.  

Remuneration Committee: 

• Monitors the individual performance  
of the CEO and associated  
remuneration. 

 



MDHB 2008/09 Annual Report, Page 58 

Board/Committee Membership & 
Development 

There are 11 Board Members, who collectively 
possess a broad range of skills, knowledge 
and experience. Seven of these members are 
elected through the triennial local 
government elections, and four are 
appointed by the Minister of Health. In making 
the appointments, the Minister ensures any 
skills gaps are met, including a minimum of 
two Maori Board members. 

The election term is for three years. The 
current board took office on 10 December 
2007. Transition arrangements are put in place 
toward the end of each term to ensure a 
smooth transition from the outgoing to the 
incoming Board. This ensures continuity of 
business. 

Membership of the Board’s committees is 
reviewed three-yearly. Board members make 
up the majority of committee members, and 
the Board uses its legislative power to appoint 
additional members to assist with the 
governance of the provider and funding 
divisions and disability issues. The three-year 
appointment term of external committee 
members has been timed to commence one 
year after the election of Board members to 
enable continuity of governance through the 
DHB election process. The external committee 
members during 2008/09 were: 

 

 

Community & Public Health Advisory 
Committee 

Linda Gray 

Charmaine Hamilton 

Disability Support Advisory Committee 

Jonathan Godfrey 

Tawhiti Kunaiti 

Nicolas Steenhout 

Hospital Advisory Committee 

Richard Orzecki 

Kerry Simpson 

Cynric Temple-Camp 

Enable New Zealand Governance Group 

Ewen Kirkcaldie 

Matt Matamua 
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Governance Processes at 
MidCentral DHB 

• Each Board committee operates within a 
formal terms of reference. 

• A work programme is in place for each 
Committee and the Board, and this is 
closely aligned with the District Annual 
Plan. 

• An annual meeting calendar for the 
Board and its Committees is established. 
The Board meets monthly, except 
January. At least three meetings of the 
Board are scheduled for outlying areas 
within the district. 

• Four open forums are held for public to 
engage with the Board each year. 

• The Board appoints an internal auditor to 
ensure its systems and processes are 
robust. The internal auditors report to the 
Board’s audit committees.  

• The Office of the Auditor-General 
appoints the Board’s external auditor. 

• A strong risk management approach to 
internal audit is taken, led by the Board’s 
audit committees. 

• Meetings of the Board and its Committees 
are run in accordance with the Board’s 
Standing Orders.  

 

• All Board and Committee Members 
undertake a collective and self 
evaluation process on a regular basis. The 
results are used to continually assure and 
improve governance processes and 
inform annual training and development 
programmes. 

• New Board and Committee Members 
receive a comprehensive orientation to 
the public health sector, and to 
MidCentral District Health Board. 

• Members are aware of the duty to 
manage existing and potential conflicts 
of interest. A conflict of interest register is 
maintained, and meeting processes 
support individual members and the 
Board/Committee to manage all existing 
or potential conflicts.  
 

 

Four open forums are held each year so the 
public can engage with the Board 
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Board Member Third Party Relationship 

I Wilson, Chair Corporate Involvements Limited Director/Shareholder 
 Estendart Limited Director 
 Institute of Environmental & Research Limited Chairman 
 Learning Media Limited Director 
 Massey Ventures Limited Director 
 Ministry of Health’s Capital Committee Member 
 Polybatics Limited Director 
 Polybatics Trading Limited Director 
 Rural Fuel Limited  Director 
 Addz Livewire Electrical Limited Shareholder 
A Chapman,  Otaki Women’s Helath Group Member 
Deputy Chair Gen-i Son is employee 
 Accident Compensation Corporation Daughter is employee 
 Te Wananga o Raukawa Board Member 
 Kapiti Coast District Council Deputy Mayor 
 Otaki Community Health Trust Member 
 Horowhenua-Kapiti Electra Trust Trustee 
L Burnell Horowhenua-Kapiti Electra Trust Trustee 
 Manawatu-Wanganui Regional Council Councillor 
 Coast Access Radio Trustee 
J Drummond Police Medical Service National Co-ordinator.  
 Radius Care (The Palms) Locum, part time GP 
 Otumoetai Doctors, Tauranga Locum, part time GP 
 Waipuna Hospice, Tauranga Medical Director 
 Adapt Therapy Services Daughter is employee 
 Australasian Forensic Society NZ Representative 
D Emery Union Medical Benefits Society – Unimed Board Member 
 Richmond New Zealand  Employee (Kaiwhakarite role) 
 Nga Kaitiaki O Ngati Kauwhata Inc Chairman 
 Te Roopu Hokowhitu Board Member Elect (for Ngati 

Kauwhata-ki-te-Tonga) 
 Te Hono Ki Raukawa Member 
 Tu Toa Sports Academy Trustee 
 Feilding Table Tennis Club Patron 
 Manawhenua Hauora Observer 
J Jefferies Palmerston North City Council Councillor 
 Aorangi Hospital Ltd Chairman 
 Jim Jefferies Limited Director/Owner 
 Rural Fuel Limited Director 
 CentrePort Limited Director 
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S Paewai Rangitane o Tamaki nui a Rura Incorporated Society Consultant 
 Tararua Primary Health Organisation Chairperson 
 Compass Health Limited Member, Funding & Audit 

Committee 
 Manawhenua Hauora Observer 
 Te Kura Kaupapa Maori o Tamaki Nui a Rural School Relief Teacher 
 REAP Board Member 
 MCI & Associates Ltd Wife is Partner 
B Robson Regional Clinical Services Plan’s Steering Committee Consumer Representative 
 Federation of Women’s Health Councils Aotearoa NZ Co-covenor 
 Health & Disability Commissioner’s Consumer Advisory 

Group 
Consumer Representative 

 Manawatu Primary Health Organisation’s Manawatu 
District Consumer Advisory Group 

Observer 

O Stock Aorangi Hospital Ltd Director 
 Whangaui DHB Director 
 Steel Pencil Ltd Shareholder & Director 
 Steel Pencil Global Ltd Shareholder & Director 
 Steel Pencil Philippines Ltd Inc Shareholder & Director 
 Palmerston North Airport Ltd Director 

Committee 
Member 

Third Party Relationship 

J Godfrey Royal NZ Foundation of the Blind Director 
 Massey University Employee 
L Gray Naylor Lawrence & Gray (trading as Audit Link) Partner 
 Naylor Lawrence & Gray Partner 
 Naylor Lawrence & Associates Ltd Partner 
 GCF Electrical Ltd Shareholder 
 John N Couchman Ltd Shareholder 
 St Josephs School, Feilding Trustee 
C Hamilton Ucol Council Council Member 
 Massey University Employee 
E Kirkcaldie Horwath Rutherfords Ltd Director 
M Matamua Health Care of New Zealand Limited Employee 
 Manawhenua Hauora Member 
R Orzecki Manawhenua Hauora Chairman 
 Maori Party Candidate, 2008 Elections 
 Raukawa Iwi Medical Service  
 Horowhenua Primary Health Organisation Director 
 Te Runanga Health Reference Group Chairman 
 NZ School Trustees Association Board Member 
 Te Koru Pauwai Chairman 
 Federation of Maori Authorities Board Member 
 Crown Forest Rental Trust Alternate Board Member 
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K Simpson Brumby Simpson Partners Ltd Director 
N Steenhout Axian Ltd/Diversityworks  
C Temple-
Camp 

Medlab Central Ltd CEO 

 Broadway Radiology CEO 
 MidCentral Health Wife is employee 
 Manawatu Chamber of Commerce Member 
 Central Technical Advisory service’s Clinical Guidance 

Committee 
Member 

 National Coronial Pathology Services Advisory Group 
to Ministry of Justice 

Member 

 Aotea Pathology Limited Director 
 T-Lab Director 
 Ministerial Advisory Group Member 

Management Third Party Relationship 

M Georgel, 
CEO 

Central Region’s Technical Advisory Service Limited Director 

 Allied Laundry Services Limited Director 
 Medical Museum Trust Director 
 Pharmac Observer (on Board) 
 Sport Manawatu Regional Trust Trustee 
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Governance and Management 

The Board delegates to the Chief Executive 
authority to manage the operational 
performance of MidCentral District Health 
Board. These delegations are detailed in the 
DHB’s Delegations Policy which is approved 
by the Minister of Health. 

The roles of governance and management 
are well defined and understood and an 
excellent working relationship exists between 
the Board and the executive management 
team. 

Details of the CEO and his management 
team are set out below:

 

 

 

MURRAY GEORGEL,  CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

Responsibilities: Murray Georgel leads MidCentral DHB Executive Management Team, and is 
responsible for the overall performance of the DHB. This team meets regularly to monitor DHB 
performance, and develop strategy. 

Background: Murray joined the public health sector in 1994. He has considerable management and 
leadership experience across a wide range of industries, including primary production, tourism, 
pharmaceuticals and social services. He became MidCentral DHB’s CEO in 1999. 

 

 

 

Murray Georgel 
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HEATHER BROWNING,  GENERAL MANAGER,  ENABLE NEW ZEALAND 

Responsibilities: Heather Browning manages Enable New Zealand, one of the largest disability 
support service provider in NZ.  

Background: Heather has worked within the disability sector in New Zealand and Australia as a 
physiotherapist, manager and consultant. She took up her role at Enable New Zealand in 2001. 

LAREEN COOPER,  GENERAL MANAGER,  MIDCENTRAL HEALTH 

Responsibilities: Lareen Cooper oversees the provision of hospital and associated services to the 
district. She is also responsible for a number of regional services, including the Regional Cancer 
Treatment Service. 

Background: Lareen has worked in the NZ public health sector for many years. She joined MidCentral 
DHB in 2005. Prior to that she was interim CEO of Bay of Plenty DHB, and was General Manager in 
both Planning and Funding and in the provider division of Bay of Plenty. 

MIKE GRANT,  GENERAL MANAGER,  FUNDING DIVISION 

Responsibilities: Mike Grant manages the DHB’s Funding Division, and is responsible for ensuring the 
health needs of the district are routinely assessed, and access to health and disability services is in 
place. He ensures contracts are in place with a wide range of health and disability service providers. 

Background: Mike has a long association with health. He joined MidCentral DHB in 2002. Prior to that 
he was the General Manager of Hospital and Health Services in Tairawhiti (Gisborne), and then 
Taranaki. 

STUART WILSON,  GENERAL MANAGER,  CORPORATE SERVICES 

Responsibilities: Stuart Wilson manages the corporate financial and information systems units, 
including IT, library services, health statistics, and clinical records. He also leads the DHB’s strategic 
and annual planning process, and oversees risk management. 

Background: Stuart has extensive experience in corporate roles within both the private sector and 
many State Owned Enterprises. He joined MidCentral DHB in 2000. 

 

 

 

 

 

Heather Browning Lareen Cooper Mike Grant Stuart Wilson
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Good Employer  
 
 
MidCentral District Health Board takes it role as an employer seriously. There are seven elements 
which make up a good employer and MidCentral DHB continues to invest in these areas. 

The Seven Elements of a Good Employer 

Seven Elements of a Good Employer What’s in Place at MidCentral DHB 
 

1. Leadership, Accountability & Culture • Clinical Governance Structures x 3 (DHB-wide, primary, and 
secondary) 

• Professional Leadership Structure (including professional 
advisory roles and reference groups) 

• Clinical:management partnership structure within 
MidCentral Health (provider arm) 

• MDHB Workforce Development Strategy  
• Combined Union/Management Meeting Arrangements 
• Commitment to EEO – member of the EEO Employer Group 
• Policies: 

o Equal Employment Opportunities 
o Disclosure of Serious Wrongdoing 
o Code of Conduct (which sets out MDHB’s Shared 

Approach to Work Principles, and, the State Services 
Commissioner’s standards of integrity and conduct). 
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2. Recruitment, Selection & Induction • MDHB Recruitment Plan, and Medical Recruitment Plan 
(under development) 

• Participation in Massey University’s Careers Day 
• Workchoice Days (annual) for Secondary School Students 
• Training placement site for UCOL and Massey University - 

nursing, midwifery, social work, clinical psychology and 
medical radiation therapist technology students training 
programmes) 

• Nurse Entry to Practice Programme 
• Dental Therapist Scholarships 
• Midwifery Education Grants 
• On-line recruitment available 
• Central resource of promotional material 
• MDHB Orientation Programme & Powhiri 
• Targeted overseas recruitment drives 
• Accredited training hospital for first year house officers and 

registrars in most specialties 
• Outreach site for University of Otago Wellington Clinical 

School – provide clinical placements for final year medical 
students 

• Physiotherapy Clinical Hub (in conjunction with University of 
Otago) to provide clinical placements for final year 
physiotherapy students 

• Policies: 
o Recruitment/Appointment  
o Appointment of Honorary Staff 
o Medical Clinical Observers 
o Orientation 
o Core Skills. 

 
3. Employee Development, Promotion & Exit • On-line exit interviews 

• Alumni 
• Professional development and recognition programme 

(PDRP) accredited by the New Zealand Nursing Council  
• MDHB Internal Education & Development Programme 
• Dedicated recruitment advisors (nursing and medical) 
• Health Care Development Team (supporting primary care 

practitioners) 
• On-site library facility 
• Policies: 

o Performance Management 
o Continuing Education/Professional 

Development/Sabbatical Leave 
o Management of Staff Surplus 
o Retirement/Farewell Functions 
o Credentialing of Senior Medical & Dental Officers. 
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4. Flexibility & Work Design • Rostering module (being implemented) 
• Flexible work guidelines 
• Rostering Guidelines 
• Supports Mainstream programme 
• Nursing Staff Bureau (enables flexible working arrangements) 
• Policies: 

o Work & Family  
o Impaired Staff.  

 
 

5. Remuneration, Recognition & Conditions • CEO Good Deeds Award 
• Health Awards 
• Individual Employment Contracts (reviewed annually) 
• Multi Employer Collective Agreements 
• Nurses Prizegiving 
• Professional Work Days recognised, such as International 

Nurses’ Day, Administration Appreciation Day 
• Policies: 

o Annual Leave  
o Management of Employee Absences 
o Bereavement/Tangihangi Leave 
o Core Skills  
o Casual Employment  
o Leave Without Pay 
o Superannuation. 

 
6. Harassment & Bullying Prevention • Employee Assistance Programme 

• Harassment Prevention Training 
• Policies 

o Shared Approach to Work Principles 
o Harassment Prevention Policy. 
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7. Safe & Healthy Environment • ACC Partnership Programme (MDHB holds tertiary status) 
• Employee Assistance Programme 
• Healthy Staff Programme, including: 

o Next Steppers Walking Programme 
o Weight Watchers at Work 
o Free Flu Immunisation 
o No-lift Policy 
o Pilates 
o Smoking Cessation Support 
o Smokefree Workplace 
o Yoga 
o Staff Discount Scheme (with local businesses) 

• On-site Occupational Health Unit 
• Policies 

o Health & Safety Policy 
o Manual Handling Injury Prevention Policy 
o Incident Reporting Policy 
o Nutrition & Physical Activity Policy. 
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Statement of Accounting Policies 
for the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2009 

 

Reporting Entity 

MidCentral District Health Board (MidCentral DHB) is 
a Crown entity in terms of the Crown Entities Act 
2004, is owned by the Crown, and is domiciled in 
New Zealand. MidCentral DHB was created under 
the New Zealand Public Health and Disability Act 
2000, effective 1 January 2001. 

The group consists of MidCentral DHB, associated 
entity Allied Laundry Services Limited (ALSL) (25.0% 
owned) and an investment in Central Region’s 
Technical Advisory Service Limited (TAS) (16.7% 
owned). In addition, the group includes wholly 
owned subsidiary Enable New Zealand Limited, 
which is non-trading. As of November 2002 all the 
assets, liabilities and activities of Enable New 
Zealand Ltd were vested in the MidCentral District 
Health Board.  

The financial statements and group financial 
statements of MidCentral DHB have been prepared 
in accordance with the requirements of New 
Zealand Public Health and Disability Act 2000, the 
Financial Reporting Act 1993, the Public Finance 
Act 1989, and the Crown Entities Act, 2004. 

MidCentral DHB is a public benefit entity, as defined 
under NZ IAS1 - Presentation of Financial 
Statements. 

In addition, funds administered on behalf of 
patients have been reported as a note to the 
Financial Statements. 

MidCentral DHB’s activities involve delivering health 
and disability services and mental health services in 
a variety of ways to the community. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue 
by the Board on 15 September 2009. 

Statement of Compliance  
and Basis of Preparation 

The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice in New Zealand (NZ GAAP). 
They comply with the New Zealand equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ 
IFRS), and other applicable Financial Reporting 
Standards as appropriate for Public Benefit Entities. 

The financial statements are presented in New 
Zealand Dollars (NZD), rounded to the nearest 
thousand. The financial statements are prepared on 
the historical cost basis except that the following 
assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value: 
land and buildings, and derivative financial 
instruments (foreign exchange contract). 

The accounting policies set out below have been 
applied consistently to all periods presented in 
these consolidated financial statements. 

The preparation of financial statements in 
conformity with NZ IFRS requires management to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of policies and reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities, income and 
expenses. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience 
and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of 
which form the basis of making the judgements 
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that 
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates.
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The estimates and underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period 
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects 
only that period, or in the period of the revision and 
future periods if the revision affects both current 
and future periods. 

Judgements made by management in the 
application of NZ IFRS that have significant effect 
on the financial statements and estimates with a 
significant risk of material adjustment in the next 
year are discussed in Note 26. 

Basis for Consolidation 

ASSOCIATES 

Associates are those entities in which MidCentral 
DHB has significant influence, but not control, over 
the financial and operating policies. ALSL is an 
associate company of MidCentral DHB. 

The consolidated financial statements include 
MidCentral DHB’s share of the total recognised 
gains and losses of associates on an equity 
accounted basis, from the date that significant 
influence commences until the date that significant 
influence ceases. When MidCentral DHB’s share of 
losses exceeds its interest in an associate, 
MidCentral DHB’s carrying amount is reduced to nil 
and recognition of further losses is discontinued 
except to the extent that MidCentral DHB has 
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made 
payments on behalf of an associate. 

TRANSACTIONS ELIMINATED ON CONSOLIDATION 

Intragroup balances and any unrealised gains and 
losses or income and expenses arising from 
intragroup transactions, are eliminated in preparing 
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised 
gains arising from transactions with associates and 
jointly controlled entities are eliminated to the 
extent of MidCentral DHB’s interest in the entity. 
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as 
unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is 
no evidence of impairment. 

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at 
the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the 
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at the balance 
sheet date are translated to NZD at the foreign 
exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign 
exchange differences arising on translation are 
recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Performance. Non-monetary assets and liabilities 
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a 

foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies that are stated at fair value are 
translated to NZD at foreign exchange rates ruling 
at the dates the fair value was determined. The 
associated foreign exchange gains or losses follow 
the fair value gains or losses to either the Statement 
of Financial Performance or directly to equity. 

BUDGET FIGURES 

The budget figures are those approved by the 
health board in its District Annual Plan and included 
in the Statement of Intent tabled in Parliament. The 
budget figures have been prepared in accordance 
with NZ GAAP. They comply with NZ IFRS and other 
applicable Financial Reporting Standards as 
appropriate for public benefit entities. Those 
standards are consistent with the accounting 
policies adopted by MidCentral DHB for the 
preparation of these financial statements. 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Classes of Property, Plant & Equipment 

The major classes of property, plant and equipment 
are as follows: 

• freehold land 

• freehold buildings 

• plant, equipment and vehicles 

• work in progress 

• fixtures and fittings. 
 

Owned Assets 

Except for land and buildings and the assets vested 
from the hospital and health service (see below), 
items of property, plant and equipment are stated 
at cost, less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses. The cost of self-constructed 
assets includes the cost of materials, direct labour, 
the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of 
dismantling and removing the items and restoring 
the site on which they are located, and an 
appropriate proportion of direct overheads. 

Land and buildings are revalued to fair value as 
determined by an independent registered valuer 
every three years. Valuations undertaken in 
accordance with standards issued by the New 
Zealand Property Institute are used where 
available. Otherwise, valuations are conducted in 
accordance with the Rating Valuation Act 1998, 
which have been confirmed by an independent 
valuer. Any increase in value of a class of land and 
buildings is recognised directly in equity unless it 
offsets a previous decrease in value recognised in 
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the Statement of Financial Performance. Any 
decreases in value relating to a class of land and 
buildings are debited directly to the revaluation 
reserve, to the extent that they reverse previous 
surpluses and are otherwise recognised as an 
expense in the Statement of Financial Performance. 

Additions to property, plant and equipment 
between valuations are recorded at cost. 

Where material parts of an item of property, plant 
and equipment have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate components of 
property, plant and equipment. 

Rental property is included in property plant and 
equipment in accordance with NZ IFRS as the rental 
property is held for strategic and social purposes 
rather than for rental income, capital appreciation 
or both. 

Disposal of Property, Plant & Equipment 

Where an item of plant and equipment is disposed 
of, the gain or loss recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Performance is calculated as the 
difference between the net sales price and the 
carrying amount of the asset. 

Leased Assets 

Leases where MidCentral DHB assumes substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified 
as finance leases. The assets acquired by way of 
finance lease are stated at an amount equal to the 
lower of their fair value and the present value of the 
minimum lease payments at inception of the lease, 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. The capitalised values are depreciated over 
the period in which the DHB expects to receive 
benefits from their use. Operating leases, where the 
lessor substantially retains the risks and rewards of 
ownership, are recognised in a systematic manner 
over the term of the lease. Leasehold 
improvements are capitalised and the cost is 
depreciated over the lease or the estimated useful 
life of the improvements, whichever is the shorter. 

Subsequent Costs 

Subsequent costs are added to the carrying 
amount of an item of property, plant and 
equipment when that cost is incurred if it is 
probable that the service potential or future 
economic benefits embodied within the new item 
will flow to MidCentral DHB. All other costs are 
recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Performance as an expense as incurred. 

Depreciation 

Depreciation is charged to the Statement of 
Financial Performance using the straight line 
method. Land and work in progress is not 
depreciated. 

Depreciation is set at rates that will write off the cost 
or fair value of the assets, less their estimated 
residual values, over their useful lives. The estimated 
useful lives of major classes of assets and resulting 
rates are as follows: 

Class of Asset Estimated 
Life 

Freehold Buildings 1 to 80 years 
Plant, Equipment and Motor 
Vehicles 

3 to 20 years 

Fixtures and Fittings 3 to 25 years 
 
The residual value of assets are reassessed annually. 

Work in progress is not depreciated. The total cost 
of a project is transferred to the appropriate class of 
asset on its completion and then depreciated. 

Accumulated depreciation at revaluation date is 
eliminated against the gross carrying amount so 
that the carrying amount after revaluation equals 
the revalued amount. 

For each property, plant and equipment project, 
borrowing costs incurred during the period required 
to complete and prepare the asset for its intended 
use are expensed. 

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Intangible assets that are acquired by MidCentral 
DHB are stated at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses. 

Subsequent Expenditure 

Subsequent expenditure on intangible assets is 
capitalised only when it increases the service 
potential or future economic benefits embodied in 
the specific asset to which it relates. All other 
expenditure is expensed as incurred. 

Amortisation 

Amortisation is charged to the Statement of 
Financial Performance on a straight-line basis over 
the estimated useful lives of intangible assets unless 
such lives are indefinite. Intangible assets with 
indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment at 
least annually to determine if there is any indication 
of impairment. Other intangible assets are 
amortised from the date they are available for use. 
The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

Type of Asset Estimated Life 
Software 6 to 10 years 
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Realised gains and losses arising from disposal of 
intangible assets are recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Performance in the period in which the 
transaction occurs.  

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

Financial Assets 

Financial assets are classified into the following 
specified categories. Financial assets “at fair value 
through profit or loss”, “held to maturity” 
investments, “available for sale” financial assets, 
and “loans and receivables”. The classification 
depends on the nature and purpose of the 
financial assets and is determined at the time of 
initial recognition. At balance date MidCentral DHB 
had “held to maturity investments” and “loans and 
receivables”. 

Effective Interest Method 

The effective interest method is a method of 
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset 
and of allocating interest income over the relevant 
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset, or 
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net 
carrying amount of the financial asset. 

Loans & Receivables 

Cash, short term deposits and trade and other 
receivables with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market are 
classified as loans and receivables. Loans and 
receivables are initially recognised at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment. 
Interest income is recognised by applying the 
effective interest rate method. 

Held to Maturity Investments 

Term deposits with fixed or determinable payments 
and maturity dates that the group has the positive 
intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as 
held to maturity investments. Held to maturity 
investments are initially recorded at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment, with 
revenue recognised on an effective interest 
method. Investments are classified as “held to 
maturity” investments. 

Investments in Equity Securities 

Investments in associates and subsidiaries are 
measured at cost. 

 

 

Impairment of Financial Assets 

Financial assets other than those at fair value 
through profit or loss are assessed for indicators of 
impairment at each balance sheet date. Financial 
assets are impaired where there is objective 
evidence that as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial 
asset the estimated future cash flows of the asset 
have been impacted. For financial assets carried at 
amortised cost, the amount of impairment is the 
difference between carrying amount and the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate. 

The carrying amount of the financial asset is 
reduced by the impairment loss directly for all 
financial assets with the exception of trade 
receivables where the carrying amount is reduced 
through the use of an allowance account. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously 
written off are credited against the allowance 
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the 
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. 

If in a subsequent period, the amount of the 
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can 
be related objectively to an event occurring after 
the impairment was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed through 
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount 
of the investment at the date of impairment is 
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost 
would have been had the impairment not been 
recognised. 

Other Financial Liabilities 

Other financial liabilities including trade and other 
payables and interest bearing loans and 
borrowings are initially measured at fair values, net 
of transaction costs. Other financial liabilities are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method, with interest expense 
recognised on an effective yield basis. 

The effective interest method is a method of 
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability 
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant 
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, 
where appropriate a shorter period, to the net 
carrying amount of the financial liability. 

Derivative Financial Instruments 

MidCentral DHB uses foreign exchange contracts to 
manage its exposure to foreign exchange risks 
arising from investing activities. 
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Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge 
accounting are accounted for as trading 
instruments. 

Derivative financial instruments are recognised 
initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, derivative financial instruments are 
stated at fair value. The gain or loss on 
remeasurement to fair value is recognised 
immediately in the Statement of Financial 
Performance. The fair value of forward exchange 
contracts is their quoted market price at the 
balance date, being the present value of the 
quoted forward price. 

Inventories Held for Distribution 

Inventories held for distribution are stated at the 
lower of cost and current replacement cost.  

Cash & Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash 
balances, call deposits and deposits with a maturity 
of no more than three months from the date of 
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on 
demand and form an integral part of MidCentral 
DHB’s cash management are included as a 
component of cash and cash equivalents for the 
purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows. 

Impairment of Other Tangible Assets 

The carrying amounts of MidCentral DHB’s assets 
other than inventories and inventories held for 
distribution are reviewed at each balance date to 
determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment. If any such indication exists, the assets’ 
recoverable amounts are estimated. 

If the estimated recoverable amount of an asset is 
less than its carrying amount, the asset is written 
down to its estimated recoverable amount and an 
impairment loss is recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Performance. 

For intangible assets that have an indefinite useful 
life and intangible assets that are not yet available 
for use, the recoverable amount is estimated at 
each balance sheet date. 

An impairment loss on property, plant and 
equipment revalued on a class of asset basis is 
recognised directly against any revaluation reserve 
in respect of the same class of asset to the extent 
that the impairment loss does not exceed the 
amount in the revaluation reserve for the same 
class of asset. 

When a decline in the fair value of an available-for-
sale financial asset has been recognised directly in 
equity and there is objective evidence that the 
asset is impaired, the cumulative loss that had been 

recognised directly in equity is recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Performance even though 
the financial asset has not been derecognised. The 
amount of the cumulative loss that is recognised in 
the Statement of Financial Performance is the 
difference between the acquisition cost and 
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that 
financial asset previously recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Performance. 

The recoverable amount of MidCentral DHB’s 
receivables carried at amortised cost is calculated 
as the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate (ie 
the effective interest rate computed at initial 
recognition of these financial assets). Receivables 
with a short duration are not discounted. 

Impairment losses on an individual basis are 
determined by an evaluation of the exposures on 
an instrument by instrument basis. All individual 
trade receivables that are considered significant 
are subject to this approach. For trade receivables 
which are not significant on an individual basis, 
collective impairment is assessed on a portfolio 
basis based on numbers of days overdue, and 
taking into account the historical loss experience in 
portfolios with a similar amount of days overdue. 

Calculation of Recoverable Amount 

The estimated recoverable amount of receivables 
carried at amortised cost is calculated as the 
present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at their original effective interest rate. 
Receivables with a short duration are not 
discounted. 

Estimated recoverable amount of other assets is the 
greater of their fair value less costs to sell and value 
in use. Value in use is calculated differently 
depending on whether an asset generates cash or 
not. For an asset that does not generate largely 
independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount 
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which 
the asset belongs. 

For non-cash generating assets that are not part of 
a cash generating unit value in use is based on 
depreciated replacement cost (DRC). For cash 
generating assets value in use is determined by 
estimating future cash flows from the use and 
ultimate disposal of the asset and discounting these 
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market rates and the risks 
specific to the asset.  

Impairment gains and losses, for items of property, 
plant and equipment that are revalued on a class 
of assets basis, are also recognised on a class basis. 
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Reversals of Impairment 

Impairment losses are reversed when there is a 
change in the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount. 

An impairment loss on an equity instrument 
investment classified as available-for-sale or on 
items of property, plant and equipment carried at 
fair value is reversed through the relevant reserve. 
All other impairment losses are reversed through the 
Statement of Financial Performance. 

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent 
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if 
no impairment loss had been recognised. 

Borrowing Costs 

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which they are incurred. 

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

Defined Contribution Plans 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution 
plans are recognised as an expense in the 
Statement of Financial Performance as incurred. 

There are a small number of employees that are 
part of a state defined benefit superannuation 
plan. The DHB has no legal or constructive 
obligation to pay future benefits, the Crown 
guarantees these benefits and as a result the plans 
are accounted for as a defined contribution plan. 

Long Service Leave, Sabbatical Leave and 
Retirement Gratuities 

MidCentral DHB’s net obligation in respect of long 
service leave, sabbatical leave and retirement 
gratuities is the amount of future benefit that 
employees have earned in return for their service in 
the current and prior periods. The obligation is 
calculated using the projected unit credit method 
and is discounted to its present value. The discount 
rate is the market yield on relevant New Zealand 
government bonds at the balance sheet date. 

Annual Leave, Conference Leave, Sick Leave & 
Medical Education Leave 

Annual leave, conference leave, sick leave and 
medical education leave are short-term obligations 
and are calculated on an actual basis at the 
amount MidCentral DHB expects to pay. 
MidCentral DHB accrues the obligation for paid 
absences when the obligation both relates to 
employees’ past services and it accumulates.  

 

Termination Payments 

Termination Payments are recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Performance only where 
there is a demonstrable commitment to either 
terminate employment prior to normal retirement 
date or to provide such benefits as a result of an 
offer to encourage voluntary redundancy. 
Termination benefits settled in 12 months are 
reported as the amount expected to be paid, 
otherwise they are reported as the present value of 
the estimated future cash flows. 

PROVISIONS 

A provision is recognised when MidCentral DHB has 
a present legal or constructive obligation as a result 
of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow 
of economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are 
determined by discounting the expected future 
cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market rates and, where appropriate, the risks 
specific to the liability. 

Restructuring 

A provision for restructuring is recognised when 
MidCentral DHB has approved a detailed and 
formal restructuring plan, and the restructuring has 
either commenced or has been announced 
publicly. Future operating costs are not provided 
for. 

Revenue Relating to Service Contracts 

MidCentral DHB is required to expend all monies 
appropriated within certain contracts during the 
year in which it is appropriated. Should this not be 
done, the contract may require repayment of the 
money or MidCentral DHB, with the agreement of 
the Ministry of Health, may be required to expend it 
on specific services in subsequent years. The 
amount unexpended is recognised as a liability 
where there is sufficient certainty of a specific 
obligation to repay. 

Other Liabilities & Provisions 

Other liabilities and provisions are recorded at the 
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle 
the obligation. Liabilities and provisions to be settled 
beyond 12 months are recorded at their present 
value. 

Insurance Contracts 

MidCentral DHB belongs to the ACC Partnership 
Programme whereby it accepts the management 
and financial responsibility for employee work 
related illnesses and accidents. Under the 
programme MidCentral DHB is liable for all its claims 
costs for a period of two years up to a specified 
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maximum. At the end of the two year period, 
MidCentral DHB pays a premium to ACC for the 
value of residual claims, and from that point the 
liability for ongoing claims passes to ACC. The 
liability for the ACC Partnership Programme is 
measured using actuarial techniques at the present 
value of expected future payments to be made in 
respect of the employee injuries and claims up to 
the reporting date. Consideration is given to 
anticipated future wage and salary levels and 
experience of employee claims and injuries. 
Expected future payments are discounted using 
market yields on government bonds at balance 
date with terms to maturity that match, as closely to 
possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

TAXATION 

Income Tax 

MidCentral DHB is a crown entity under the New 
Zealand Public Health and Disability Act 2000 and is 
exempt from income tax under section CW38 of the 
Income Tax Act 2007. 

Goods & Services Tax 

All amounts are shown exclusive of Goods and 
Services Tax (GST), except for receivables and 
payables that are stated inclusive of GST. Where 
GST is irrecoverable as an input tax, it is recognised 
as part of the related asset or expense. 

REVENUE 

Crown Funding 

The majority of revenue is provided through an 
appropriation in association with a Crown Funding 
Agreement. Revenue is recognised monthly in 
accordance with the Crown Funding Agreement 
payment schedule, which allocates the 
appropriation equally throughout the year. 
Revenue from the supply of goods and services is 
measured at the fair value of consideration 
received. 

Goods Sold & Services Rendered 

Revenue from goods sold is recognised when 
MidCentral DHB has transferred to the buyer the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the 
goods and MidCentral DHB does not retain either 
continuing managerial involvement to the degree 
usually associated with ownership nor effective 
control over the goods sold. 

Revenue from services is recognised, to the 
proportion that a transaction is complete, when it is 
probable that the payment associated with the 
transaction will flow to MidCentral DHB and that 
payment can be measured or estimated reliably, 

and to the extent that any obligations and all 
conditions have been satisfied by MidCentral DHB. 

Rental Income 

Rental income from strategic assets/assets held for 
social benefit is recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Performance on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the lease. Lease incentives granted are 
recognised as an integral part of the total rental 
income over the lease term on a straight- line basis. 

EXPENSES 

Operating Lease Payments 

Payments made under operating leases are 
recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Performance on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the lease. Lease incentives received are 
recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Performance over the lease term as an integral part 
of the total lease expense on a straight line basis. 

Finance Lease Payments 

Minimum lease payments are apportioned 
between the finance charge and the reduction of 
the outstanding liability. The finance charge is 
allocated to each period during the lease term on 
an effective interest basis. 

Net Financing Costs 

Financing costs comprise interest paid and payable 
on borrowings calculated using the effective 
interest rate method. 

The interest expense component of finance lease 
payments is recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Performance using the effective interest 
rate method. 

Non-Current Assets Held For Sale & Discontinued 
Operations 

Immediately before classification as held for sale, 
the measurement of the assets (and all assets and 
liabilities in a disposal group) is brought up-to-date 
in accordance with applicable NZ IFRS. Then, on 
initial classification as held for sale, a non-current 
asset and/or a disposal group is recognised at the 
lower of its carrying amount and its fair value less 
costs to sell.  

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for 
sale are included in the Statement of Financial 
Performance, even when the asset was previously 
revalued. The same applies to gains and losses on 
subsequent remeasurement. 

A discontinued operation is a component of 
MidCentral DHB’s business that represents a 
separate major line of business or geographical 
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area of operations or is a subsidiary acquired 
exclusively with a view to resale. 

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs 
upon disposal or when the operation meets the 
criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier. 

Contingent Assets & Contingent Liabilities 

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are 
recorded in the Statement of Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent Assets at the point at which the 
contingency is evident. Contingent liabilities are 
disclosed if the possibility that they will crystallise is 
not remote. Contingent assets are disclosed if it is 
probable that the benefits will be realised. 

Cost of Service (Statement of Service Performance) 

The cost of service statements, as reported in the 
statement of service performance, report the net 
cost of services for the outputs of MidCentral DHB 
and are represented by the cost of providing the 
output less all the revenue that can be allocated to 
these activities. 

Cost Allocation  

MidCentral DHB has arrived at the net cost of 
service for each significant activity using the cost 
allocation system outlined below. 

Cost Allocation Policy 

Direct costs are charged directly to output classes. 
Indirect costs are charged to output classes based 
on cost drivers and related activity and usage 
information. 

Criteria for Direct & Indirect Costs 

Direct costs are those costs directly attributable to 
an output class.  

Indirect costs are those costs that cannot be 
identified in an economically feasible manner with 
a specific output class. 

Cost Drivers for Allocation of Indirect Costs 

The cost of internal services not directly charged to 
outputs is allocated as overheads using appropriate 
cost drivers such as actual usage, staff numbers 
and floor area. 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  

The statement of cash flows is prepared exclusive of 
GST, which is consistent with the method used in the 
Statement of Financial Performance. 

GST inflows and GST outflows in the Cash Flow 
Statement have been shown net as the Board does 
not believe that showing gross cash flows provides 
more useful information given that GST is paid net 
each month. 

Definitions of the terms used in the statement of 
cash flows are: 

Cash includes coins and notes, demand deposits 
and other highly liquid investments readily 
convertible into cash and includes all call 
borrowings such as bank overdrafts used by the 
organisation. 

Operating activities include all transactions and 
other events that are not investing or financing 
activities. 

Investing activities are those activities relating to 
the acquisition and disposal of current and non 
current investments and any other non-current 
assets. 

Financing activities are those activities relating to 
changes in the equity and debt capital structure of 
the organisation and those relating to the cost of 
servicing the organisation’s equity capital. 

Reclassification 

Balances relating to prior years have been 
reclassified in order to achieve consistency in 
disclosure in the current year. 

New Standards & Interpretations Approved But Not 
Yet Adopted 

Certain new standards, amendments and 
interpretations to existing standards have been 
published that are not yet effective for the year 
ended 30 June 2009, and have not been applied in 
preparing these financial statements. The adoption 
of the following standards is not expected to have 
a material impact on MidCentral DHB’s financial 
statements. 



• NZ IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements 
(revised 2007) – (effective from annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2009). 

• NZ IAS 23, Borrowing Costs (revised) – (effective 
from annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2009). 

• NZ IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate financial 
statements (revised 2008) – (effective from 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 
2009). 

• NZ IFRS 3, Business Combinations (revised 2008) 
– (effective from annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 July 2009). 
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• Improvements to New Zealand Equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
2008 – (effective various)*. 

Other standards/interpretations that are not 
included above have been reviewed and are not 
considered relevant to MidCentral DHB. 

*The effective date and transitional provisions vary 
by Standard. Most of the improvements are 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2009, with earlier adoption permitted, and 
they are to be applied retrospectively. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2009 
  
 Note Group & Parent 

  June-09
$000 

June-08 
$000 

1. REVENUE    

Health and Disability Services – Ministry of Health (MoH) Contracted Revenue  413,088 388,956 

ACC  18,855 17,789 

Inter District Patient Inflows   35,840 35,072 

Patient Income  703 731 

  468,486 442,548 

2. OTHER OPERATING INCOME    

Donations and Bequests Received  99 133 

Rental Income   1,400 1,236 

Other  5,568 3,509 

  7,067 4,878 

3. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES     

Impairment of Trade Receivables (Bad and Doubtful Debts) 13 - (139) 

Loss on Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment  110 178 

Audit Fees (for the Audit of the Financial Statements)  187 148 

Audit Related Fees (for Assurance Related Services)  11 27 

Other  140 226 

Board Fees  24 324 320 

Change in Fair Value of Derivative  (244) 29 

  528 789 

Audit related fees include fees incurred in relation to the transition to NZ IFRS.    

    

4. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT COSTS    

Wages and Salaries  160,065 148,071 

Contributions to Defined Contribution and Benefit Plans  2,253 1,749 

(Increase)/Decrease in Employee Benefit Provisions  (2,201) (2,595) 

  160,117 147,225 

    

5a. FINANCE INCOME    

Interest Income  2,844 4,696 

    

5b. FINANCE COSTS    

Interest Expense  3,476 3,660 

    

6. CAPITAL CHARGE    

MidCentral DHB pays a monthly capital charge to the Crown. The capital 
charge rate for the period ended 30 June 2009 was 8% (2008: 8 %). 
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7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (GROUP AND PARENT) 
 Freehold 

Land  
(at valuation 

$000 

Freehold 
Buildings 

(at valuation)  
$000 

Plant,  
Equipment & 

Vehicles 
$000 

Fixtures & 
Fittings

$000 

Work in 
Progress

$000 

Total 
$000 

Cost       

Balance at 1 July 2007 9,825 114,288 53,032 5,844 2,292 185,281 

Additions - 1,044 2,427 - 4,647 8,118 

Disposals - (64) (398) (1,009) - (1,471) 

Transfers - 1,831 1,208 - (3,039) - 

Balance at 30 June 2008 9,825 117,099 56,269 4,835 3,900 191,928 

       

Additions - 480 3,853 101 8,095 12,529 

Disposals (280) (106) (2,222) (153) - (2,761) 

Revaluation Increase 7,000 (5,343) - - - 1,657 

Transfers - 3,642 4,041 16 (10,679) (2,980) 

Balance at 30 June 2009 16,545 115,772 61,941 4,799 1,316 200,373 

Depreciation and Impairment 
Losses 

      

Balance at 1 July 2007 - 5,927 34,000 4,170 - 44,097 

Depreciation Charge for the Year - 5,700 4,116 473 - 10,289 

Disposals - (14) (350) (930) - (1,294) 

Balance at 30 June 2008 - 11,613 37,766 3,713 - 53,092 

       

Depreciation Charge for the Year - 5,721 4,207 300 - 10,228 

Disposals - (18) (2,099) (129) - (2,246) 

Eliminated on Revaluation - (17,316) - - - (17,316) 

Balance at 30 June 2009 - - 39,874 3,884 - 43,758 

Carrying Amounts       

At 1 July 2007 9,825 108,361 19,032 1,674 2,292 141,184 

At 30 June 2008 9,825 105,486 18,503 1,122 3,900 138,836 

At 30 June 2009 16,545 115,772 22,067 915 1,316 156,615 

The difference  between transfers from “work in progress” to “plant, equipment & vehicles”, “freehold buildings” and 
“furniture and fittings” relates to transfers to intangibles disclosed in Note 8. 

Valuation:       

Land and buildings were revalued on 30 June 2009. Revalued land and buildings are stated at fair value as determined 
by an independent valuer, Colliers International New Zealand Limited, Palmerston North, as at 30 June 2009 less 5% 
optimisation adjustment. The methodology used by Colliers International New Zealand Limited to arrive at fair value has 
been to value land on a market basis and buildings on an optimised depreciated replacement cost methodology. The 
Board was concerned that the building values had not been fully optimised to reflect future models of health care 
provision, and requested that further work be carried out. Following completion of this work, the Board decided to 
reduce the building values by 5% from the original valuation. 
The total fair value of land and buildings valued by the valuer amounted to $138,396,000 as at 30 June 2009, less the 5% 
optimisation made by the Board of $6,079,000 gives a carrying value of $132,317,000. 

Restrictions:       

MidCentral DHB does not have full title to Crown land it occupies but transfer is arranged if and when land is sold. Some 
of MidCentral DHB’s land is subject to Waitangi Tribunal claims. The disposal of certain properties may be subject to the 
provisions of s40 of the Public Works Act 1981.  
Titles to land transferred from the Crown to MidCentral DHB are subject to a memorial in terms of the Treaty of Waitangi 
Act 1975 (as amended by Treaty of Waitangi (State Enterprises) Act 1988). The effect on the value of assets resulting 
from potential claims under the Treaty of Waitangi Act 1975 cannot be quantified.  

  



MDHB 2008/09 Annual Report, Page 80 

8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (GROUP AND PARENT)    

 Software
$000 

Total 
$000 

Cost    

Balance at 1 July 2007  5,535 5,535 

Additions  2,132 2,132 

Balance at 30 June 2008  7,667 7,667 

Additions  373 373 

Transfer from Work in Progress  7 3,035 3,035 

Disposals  (55) (55) 

Balance at 30 June 2009  11,020 11,020 

Amortisation and Impairment Losses    

Balance at 1 July 2007  3,687 3,687 

Amortisation Charge for the Year  586 586 

Disposals  - - 

Balance at 30 June 2008  4,273 4,273 

Amortisation Charge for the Year  1,169 1,169 

Disposals  (55) (55) 

Balance at 30 June 2009  5,387 5,387 

Carrying Amounts    

At 1 July 2007  1,848 1,848 

At 30 June 2008  3,394 3,394 

At 30 June 2009  5,633 5,633 

    

9. INVENTORIES Note Group & Parent 

  June-09 
$000 

June-08 
$000 

Surgical and Medical Supplies  2,424 2,645 

Pharmaceuticals  263 208 

  2,687 2,853 

Write-down of inventories amounted to $78,000 for 2009 (2008: $50,000). The amount of inventories recognised as an 
expense during the year ended 30 June 2009 was $21,178,000 (2008: $19,963,000 ). No inventories are pledged as 
security for liabilities. 

    

10. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES    

MidCentral DHB has the following investments in associates:    

a. General Information    

Name of Entity Principal Activities Interest Held at 30 June 
2009/2008 

Balance 
Date 

Allied Laundry Services Limited Provision of laundry services 25% 30 June 

b. Summary of Financial Information on Associate Entities (100 per cent) 

 Assets 
$000 

Liabilities 
$000 

Equity 
$000 

Revenues 
$000 

Profit/(Loss) 
$000 

2009 Actual – Allied Laundry Services Limited 5,240 2,211 3,029 6,270 - 

2008 Actual – Allied Laundry Services Limited 4,065 1,036 3,029 6,097 - 
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c) Share of Profit of Associate Entities      

 2009 Actual $000 2008 Actual $000 

Share of Profit/(Loss) Before Tax - - 

Less: Tax Expense - - 

Share of Profit/(Loss) After Tax - - 

d) Investment in Associate Entities 

 Note Group & Parent 

  June-09 
$000 

June-08 
$000 

Carrying Amount at Beginning of Year 750 750 

Share of Total Recognised Revenue and Expenses - - 

Carrying Amount at End of Year 750 750 

MidCentral DHB has a 25% (2008: 25%) shareholding in Allied Laundry Service Limited (Allied Laundry) and participates in 
its commercial and financial policy decisions. Allied Laundry has a total share capital of $3,000,000 of which MidCentral 
DHB’s share is $750,000. Consideration was made for the shares through the sale of property and plant at market value. 
Allied Laundry commenced operations on 2 December 2002, has a balance date of 30 June and operates a laundering 
service. Allied Laundry Service Limited achieved breakeven at 30 June 2009 (2008: breakeven). The organisation’s 
aggregate share of associates’ contingent liabilities is nil (2008: nil). 

11. NON CURRENT INVESTMENTS    

Special Funds at Westpac    

• Carrying Amount at Beginning of Year  1,500 1,500 

• Increase  250 - 

Carrying Amount at End of Year  1,750 1,500 

The weighted average interest rate at 30 June 2009 was 3.45% (2008: 8.44%)    

12. CURRENT INVESTMENTS    

Deposits Held with Banks  8,500 15,000 

The weighted average interest rate at 30 June 2009 was 4.5% (2008: 8.81%)    

13. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES    

Trade & Other Receivables Due from Associates 23 111 33 

Trade & Other Receivables from Non-Related Parties  7,757 3,475 

Ministry of Health Receivables  7,323 6,246 

Prepayments  725 689 

Provision for Doubtful Debts  - - 

  15,916 10,443 

The average credit period on the provision of services is 11.8 days (2008: 7.10days). No interest is charged on the trade 
receivables. Receivables (other than that due from the Crown) that are outstanding for more than 60 days from the 
date of the invoice are handed over to a debt collection agency for collection. Included in the Group’s trade 
receivable balance are debtors that are past due beyond 60 days with a carrying amount of $482,000 (2008: $616,000). 
Management have assessed the collectibility of all accrued income. No issues were noted from the review. 

Movement in the Allowance for Doubtful Debts    

Balance at the Beginning of the Period  - 139 

Increase/(Decrease) in Allowance Recognised in Profit or Loss  - (139) 

Balance at End of the Year  - - 

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, MidCentral DHB considers any change in the credit quality of the 
trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. The concentration of credit risk is 
limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated. Accordingly the Board believes that no allowance for 
doubtful debts is required in 2009. 
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14. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Note Group & Parent 

  June-09
$000 

June-08 
$000 

Bank Balances   766 1,244 

Call Deposits  16,858 19,371 

Cash and Cash Equivalents  17,624 20,615 

Cash and Cash Equivalents in the Statement of Cash Flows  17,624 20,615 

MidCentral DHB does not administer funds on behalf of patients. 
The weighted average interest rate on call deposits at 30 June 2009 was 3.83% 
(2008: 7.37%).  
Included within bank balances is $313,000 (2008: $416,000) of special funds with 
Westpac Trust. 

   

Reconciliation of Profit for the Period with Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities:    

Loss for the Period 15 (9,949) (4,089) 

Add Back Non-Cash Items:    

Depreciation  10,228 10,289 

Amortisation  1,169 586 

Other Non-Cash Items  - 110 

Net Loss/(Gain) on Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment  110 178 

Impairment of Trade Receivables  - (139) 

Change in Fair Value of Derivative  (244) 29 

Items Relating to Investing & Financing Activities  455 - 

Movements in Working Capital:    

(Increase)/Decrease in Trade and Other Receivables  (5,473) (1,903) 

(Increase)/Decrease in Inventories  166 (48) 

Increase/(Decrease) in Trade and Other Payables  7,256 (6,011) 

Increase/(Decrease) in Employee Benefits  3 4,423 

Net Movement in Working Capital  1,952 (3,539) 

Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Operating Activities  3,721 3,425 

15. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (GROUP AND PARENT)    

  Crown 
Equity 

Property 
Revaluation 
Reserve 

Trust/ 
Special 
Funds 

Retained 
Earnings 

Total 
Equity 

Reconciliation of Movement in Capital and Reserves       

Balance at 1 July 2007  64,451 35,986 1,995 (8,011) 94,421 

Net Movements in Special Funds  - - (79) - (79) 

Loss for the Period  - - - (4,089) (4,089) 

Distributions to the Crown  (633) - - - (633) 

Transfer from Retained Earnings  - (45) - 45 - 

Balance at 30 June 2008  63,818 35,941 1,916 (12,055) 89,620 

Transfer to/(from) Special Funds  - - 148 (148) - 

Loss for the Period  - - - (9,949) (9,949) 

Distributions to the Crown  (124) - - - (124) 

Transfers (to)/from Retained Earnings  - (270) - 270 - 

Gain on Revaluation of Land and Buildings  - 18,974 - - 18,974 

Balance at 30 June 2009  63,694 54,645 2,064 (21,882) 98,521 

Revaluation Reserve: The revaluation reserve relates to land and buildings. 
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  Group & Parent 

 Note June-09
$000 

June-08 
$000 

Trust/Special Funds    

Special funds are funds donated or bequeathed for a specific purpose. The use 
of these assets must comply with the specific terms of the sources from which the 
funds were derived.   
All trust funds are held in bank accounts that are separate from MidCentral DHB’s 
normal banking facilities. 
 

   

Balance at Beginning of Year  1,916 1,995 

Transfer from Retained Earnings in Respect of:    

• Interest Received  97 377 

• Donations and Funds Received  930 133 

Transfer to Retained Earnings in Respect of:    

• Funds Spent  (879) (589) 

Balance at End of Year  2,064 1,916 

 
 

   

16. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS    

Non-Current     

Secured Loans  50,767 47,700 

  50,767 47,700 

Current    

Secured Loans  4,100 7,243 

  4,100 7,243 

  54,867 54,943 

Analysis of Secured Loans    

EECA Loan  167 243 

Crown Health Financing Agency  54,700 54,700 

Repayable as Follows:    

Within One Year  4,100 7,243 

One to Two Years  106 4,100 

Two to Three Years  13,061 - 

Three to Four Years  12,500 13,000 

Four to Five Years  - 8,000 

Later than Five Years   25,100 22,600 

Term loan Facility Limits    

Crown Health Financing Agency  56,700 56,700 

MidCentral DHB has term loan facilities with the Crown Health Financing Agency (CHFA) for $56.7m ($54.7m drawn 
down). The term loan is secured by a negative pledge. 
Without CHFA’s prior written consent, MidCentral DHB cannot perform the following actions: 
• Create any security over its assets except in certain circumstances 
• Lend money to another person or entity (except in the ordinary course of business and then only on commercial 

terms) or give a guarantee 
• Make a substantial change in the nature or scope of its business as presently conducted or undertake any business 

or activity unrelated to health; and 
• Dispose of any of its assets except disposals at full value in the ordinary course of business. 
During the year there have not been any defaults or breaches of principal, interest or redemption terms of the loan. 
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17. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS  Group & Parent 

 Note June-09 
$000 

June-08 
$000 

Non-Current Liabilities    

Liability for Long-service Leave  476 484 

Liability for Retirement Gratuities  770 846 

  1,246 1,330 

Current Liabilities    

Liability for Long-Service Leave  1,501 1,190 

Liability for Retirement Gratuities  582 401 

Liability for Annual Leave  13,993 12,200 

Liability for Sick Leave  436 436 

Other Liabilities – Redundancies and Backpay  150 3,356 

Salary and Wages Accrual   5,927 4,919 

  22,589 22,502 

Defined Contribution Plan:    

MidCentral DHB has a number of employees that are part of a defined contribution scheme. The total expenses 
recognised in the income statement of $2,155,000 (2008: $1,565,000 ) represents contributions paid or payable to the 
plans for the year. MidCentral DHB has no other liability in respect of these schemes. 

Defined Benefit Plan: 

MidCentral DHB has a small number of employees that are part of a multi-employer scheme. Under the plan the 
employees are entitled to retirement benefits. No other post-retirement benefits are provided. The total expenses 
recognised in the income statement of $98,000 (2008: $184,000) represents contributions paid or payable to the plan for 
the year. MidCentral DHB has no other liability in respect of the above scheme. Should there be a deficit in the fund all 
the benefit payments are guaranteed by the Crown as a result the scheme is accounted for as a defined contribution 
scheme by MidCentral DHB. 

18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES    

Trade Payables   28,180 21,800 

ACC Levy Payable  894 930 

GST and PAYE Payable  1,513 1,062 

Income in Advance Relating to Contracts with Specific Performance Obligations  126 312 

ACC Partnership Programme Liability  262 249 

Capital Charge Due to the Crown  1,334 614 

Derivative Financial Instrument  (57) 29 

  32,252 24,996 

19. OPERATING LEASES    

Leases as Lessee    

Non-Cancellable Operating Lease Commitments are as follows:    

• Less than One Year  1,867 1,503 

• Between One and Five Years  4,512 2,475 

• More than Five Years  27 481 

  6,406 4,459 

Non-Cancellable Contracts are as follows:    

• Less than One Year  58,639 25,953 

• Between One and Five Years  69,118 21,572 

• More than Five Years   - 117 

  127,757 47,642 
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The operating commitments disclosed for the other non-cancellable contracts include committed obligations for health 
purchasing expenditure with various external parties. MidCentral DHB is also obligated to fund significant streams of 
“demand driven” health purchasing expenditure. Commitments of this nature are in place for the purchase of 
pharmacy, laboratory and GP services. Because this expenditure is “demand driven”, it is not possible to quantify the 
obligation in this note. 
During the year ended 30 June 2009, $2,753,000 was recognised as an expense in the statement of financial 
performance in respect of operating leases (2008: $2,885,000). 

20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
a) Market Risk: 

Exposure to credit, interest rate and currency risks arise in the normal course of MidCentral DHB’s operations. Derivative 
financial instruments are used to manage exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency. Foreign currency forward 
exchange contracts are used to manage foreign currency exposure. There has been no change to the MidCentral 
DHB’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risks. 

b) Foreign Currency Risk: 

MidCentral DHB is exposed to foreign currency risk on purchases that are denominated in a currency other than NZD. 
The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily US Dollars (USD). 
MidCentral DHB hedges all trade receivables and trade payables denominated in a foreign currency over NZD 50,000. 
MidCentral DHB uses forward exchange contracts to hedge its foreign currency risk. Where necessary, the forward 
exchange contracts are rolled over at maturity. 

Recognised Assets and Liabilities:  
Changes in the fair value of forward exchange contracts that economically hedge monetary assets and liabilities in 
foreign currencies and for which no hedge accounting is applied are recognised in the statement of financial 
performance. Both the changes in fair value of the forward contracts and the foreign exchange gains and losses 
relating to the monetary items are recognised as part of other operating expenses. The fair value of forward exchange 
contracts used as economic hedges of monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies at 30 June 2009 was $57,000 
(2008: $29,000). 
Sensitivity Analysis:  
In managing currency risks MidCentral DHB aims to reduce the impact of short-term fluctuations on MidCentral DHB’s 
earnings. Over the longer-term, however, permanent changes in foreign exchange would have an impact on 
consolidated earnings. 
MidCentral DHB is mainly exposed to US Dollars (USD).  
The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the New Zealand Dollar against the 
USD. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and 
represents management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes 
only outstanding USD denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% change in 
USD rates. A positive number indicates an increase in profit or loss and other equity. 

  USD Impact 
Group & Parent 

  June-09
$000 

June-08 
$000 

  Dr/Cr Dr/Cr 

Profit or Loss +10% (84) (365) 

 -10% 103 342 

Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts 

It is the policy of MidCentral DHB to enter into forward foreign exchange contracts to cover specific foreign exchange 
payments. MidCentral DHB also enters into forward foreign exchange contracts to manage the risk associated with 
anticipated purchase transactions out to six months of the exposure generated. Basis adjustments are made to the 
carrying amounts of non-financial hedged items when the anticipated purchase transaction takes place.  

 Weighted Average 
Exchange Rate 

Foreign Currency Contract Value Fair Value 

Outstanding 
Contracts 
Consolidated 

2009 2008 2009 
US$000 

2008 
US$000 

2009 
NZ$000 

2008 
NZ$000 

2009 
$000 

2008
$000 

Buy US Dollars 0.6968 0.7412 606 2,342 872 3,160 (57) 29 

MidCentral DHB has entered into a contract to purchase a Linear Accelerator for its Regional Cancer Treatment Service 
(RCTS). MidCentral DHB has entered into a forward exchange contract (for terms not exceeding 18 months) to mitigate 
the exchange rate risk arising from this transaction. As at reporting date the amount of realised gain under the forward 
exchange contract is $57,000 (2008: loss $29,000). 
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c) Interest Rate Risk: 

MidCentral DHB adopts a policy of ensuring that it continuously reviews its exposure to changes in interest rates on 
borrowings. These borrowings are currently on a fixed rate basis at year end and is denominated in NZD. 
Deposits with banks are also on a fixed rate basis at year end. 

Interest Rate Sensitivity:  

A sensitivity analysis to determine the exposure to interest rates at the reporting date has not been carried out as all the 
borrowings and deposits at year end are on fixed terms. 

Interest Rate Swap Contracts: 

There were no interest rate swaps at the end of the financial period. 

d) Credit Risk: 

Financial instruments, which potentially subject MidCentral DHB to concentrations of risk, consist principally of cash, 
short-term deposits and trade receivables. 
MidCentral DHB places its cash and short-term deposits with high-quality financial institutions and MidCentral DHB has a 
policy that limits the amount of credit exposure to any one financial institution. Credit exposure and credit limits are 
continuously monitored, reviewed and approved by the Board. 
Concentrations of credit risk from trade receivables are limited due to the large number and variety of customers. The 
Ministry of Health is the largest single debtor (approximately 46 per cent). It is assessed to be a low risk and high-quality 
entity due to its nature as the government funded purchaser of health and disability support services. 
At the balance sheet date there were no other significant concentrations of credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit 
risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the statement of financial position. 
The status of trade receivables at the reporting date is as follows: 

 Gross 
Receivable 

2009
$000 

Impairment 
2009
$000 

Gross Receivable 
2008 
$000 

Impairment 
2008
$000 

Trade Receivables     

Not Past Due 13,515 - 7,202 - 

Past Due 0–30 Days 908 - 1,305 - 

Past Due 31–120 Days 286 - 1,229 - 

Past Due 121 Days and Over 482 - 18 - 

Total 15,191 - 9,754 - 

In summary, trade receivables are determined to be impaired as follows: 

  Actual 
2009 
$000 

Actual 
2008
$000 

Trade Receivables    

Gross Trade Receivables  15,191 9,754 

Individual Impairment  - - 

Collective Impairment  - - 

Net Total Trade Receivables  15,191 9,754 

 

e) Liquidity Risk Management: 

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with MidCentral DHB, which has built an appropriate liquidity risk 
management framework for the management of short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management 
requirements. MidCentral DHB manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve 
borrowing facilities by continuously monitoring forecasts and actual cashflows and matching the maturity profiles of 
financial assets and liabilities. Included in Note 16 is a listing of additional undrawn facilities that MidCentral DHB has at its 
disposal to further reduce liquidity risk. 
The following table sets out the contractual cashflows for all financial liabilities and derivatives that are settled on a gross 
basis. 
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 2009 Group & Parent 

Group Effective 
Interest 
Rate % 

Total
$000 

6 Months 
or Less 

$000 

6-12 Months 
$000 

1-2 
Years
$000 

2-5 Years 
$000 

More than 5 
Years 
$000 

Trade & Other Payables 0 32,252 32,252 - - - - 

NZD Fixed Rate Loan 4.70-7.28 71,516 5,898 1,658 6,104 30,812 27,044 

EECA Loan 0 167 15 30 61 61 - 

Total Contractual Cash Flows  103,935 38,165 1,688 6,165 30,873 27,044 

 

 2008 Group & Parent 

Trade & Other Payables 0 24,996 24,996 - - - - 

NZD Fixed Rate Loan 5.92-7.28 73,124 8,858 1,623 7,218 28,369 27,056 

EECA Loan 0 243 - - - 243 - 

Total Contractual Cash Flows  98,363 33,854 1,623 7,218 28,612 27,056 

f) Fair Values: 

The fair values together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of financial position are as follows: 

  Group & Parent 

 Note Carrying Amount  
Actual June-09 

$000 

Fair Value 
Actual June-09 

$000 

Carrying Amount  
Actual June-08 

$000 

Fair Value 
Actual June-08 

$000 

Financial Assets      

Trade and Other Receivables 13 15,916 15,916 10,443 10,443 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 14 17,624 17,624 20,615 20,615 

Investments (Current) 12 8,500 8,500 15,000 15,000 

Investments (Non-current) 11 1,750 1,750 1,500 1,500 

Financial Liabilities      

Interest Bearing Loans and Borrowings 16 54,867 57,907 54,943 55,789 

Trade and Other Payables 18 32,252 32,252 24,996 24,996 

Estimation of Fair Values Analysis 

The following summarises the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments 
reflected in the table. 

Interest-Bearing Loans and Borrowings – Fair value is calculated based on discounted expected future principal and 
interest cash flows. 

Trade and other receivables/payables/cash and cash equivalents and investments – For receivables/payables/cash 
and cash equivalents and investments with a remaining life of less than one year, the notional amount is deemed to 
reflect the fair value. All other receivables/payables/investments are discounted to determine the fair value. 

Investments (non current) – Non current investments notional amount is deemed to reflect fair value because although 
they are non current they can be drawn on at any time with no significant change in carrying value. Non current 
investments relate to funds for special purposes which are unlikely to be utilised within the next 12 months, hence the 
classification as non current. 

g) Capital Management: 

MidCentral DHB’s capital is its equity, which comprises Crown equity, reserves, special funds and retained earnings. 
Equity is represented by net assets. MidCentral DHB manages its revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and general 
financial dealings prudently in compliance with the budgetary processes. 
MidCentral DHB’s policy and objectives of managing the equity is to ensure that MidCentral DHB effectively achieves its 
goals and objectives, whilst maintaining a strong capital base. MidCentral DHB policies in respect of capital 
management are reviewed regularly by the Board.  Borrowings and investments are managed to ensure that cash is 
available as required. 
There have been no material changes in MidCentral DHB’s management of capital during the period. 
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21. REMUNERATION OF EMPLOYEES Range $ Group & Parent 

The number of employees (not including Board Members) who 
received, during the twelve months, remuneration and benefits at a 
rate of $100,000 or more per annum was as shown in the table to the 
right. 
Of the total of 204 (2008: 173)  staff paid more than $100,000, 164 
(2008:  138) are professional medical staff. 
The Chief Executive Officer is the highest remunerated employee of 
the organisation and is in the $460,000 to $469,999 band.  There has 
been a change in the accounting methodology in respect of the 
CEO’s remuneration.  This now includes the value of non-cash 
remuneration, and the amount paid and payable for the period.  For 
comparative purposes, the June 2008 figure has been adjusted. 

 June-09 June-08 

100,000-109,999 27 18 
110,000-119,999 15 23 
120,000-129,999 16 11 
130,000-139,999 12 18 
140,000-149,999 20 6 
150,000-159,999 12 8 
160,000-169,999 10 7 
170,000-179,999 7 12 
180,000-189,999 10 12 
190,000-199,999 13 10 
200,000-209,999 11 4 

 210,000-219,999 6 8 
 220,000-229,999 6 10 
 230,000-239,999 7 5 
 240,000-249,999 5 6 
 250,000-259,999 3 5 
 260,000-269,999 10 5 
 270,000-279,999 4 1 
 280,000-289,999 5 1 
 290,000-299,999 1 2 
 300,000-309,999 1 0 
 320,000-329,999 2 0 
 460,000-469,999 1 1 

 
22. SEVERANCE PAYMENTS Number of Employees Amount $ 

During the twelve months ended 30 June 2009,11 employees (2008: 
15) received a payment totalling $311,451 in respect of the 
termination of their employment with the District Health Board (2008 
$185,122). 

1 11,693 
1 13,014 
1 14,496 
1 16,091 

 1 16,342 
 1 22,277 
 1 26,676 
 1 26,906 
 1 28,321 
 1 43,212 
 1 92,423 

 11 311,451 

23. RELATED PARTIES 
Identity of Related Parties: 

MidCentral DHB is a crown entity in terms of the Crown Entities Act 2004, and is owned by the Crown. 
Transactions with other entities controlled by the Crown: 
There have been transactions with other entities controlled by the Crown that have not been separately 
disclosed because the transactions have been carried out on the same terms as if the transactions had been 
carried out at arms length. 

Related Party Transactions and Balances: 

• Enable New Zealand Limited  
No transactions occurred between MidCentral DHB and wholly owned subsidiary Enable New Zealand Limited 
during the financial year (2008: nil). There was no amount outstanding from Enable New Zealand at year end.  

• Allied Laundry Services Limited 
MidCentral DHB was charged $2.3m by associate company Allied Laundry for the supply of laundry services 
during the financial year (2008: $2.2m). The amount owing to Allied Laundry at year end was $224,474 (2008: 
$317,724). MidCentral DHB leases a building and charges electricity costs to Allied Laundry. MidCentral DHB 
charges Allied Laundry $970,000 for the lease and electricity charges (2008: $860,000). The amount receivable 
from Allied Laundry at year end was $110,765 (2008: $32,930).  

• Central Region’s Technical Advisory Services Limited 
MidCentral DHB’s transactions with related company Central Region’s Technical Advisory Services Limited were 
for the supply of audit and consultancy services to the Board. There was no amount outstanding at year end 
(2008: $nil). TAS is a related party as MidCentral DHB has a 16.67% share of the ownership. 
 



MDHB 2008/09 Annual Report, Page 89 

• Other Related Parties 
There are no organisations at year end regarded as related parties as a result of a Board member at 
MidCentral DHB holding a senior position (Chief Executive Officer or equivalent) with the organisation. In prior 
year Board Members had significant influence on the boards of Best Care, Broadway Radiology and Medlab 
Central Limited. 

Compensations:  Group & Parent 

The key management personnel compensations are as follows:  June-09 
$000 

June-08 
$000 

Short Term  1,579 1,500 

Post Employment  16 2 

Other Long Term Benefits  6 4 

Termination Benefits  - - 

  1,601 1,506 

Remuneration    

Board Members  324 320 

Executive Team  1,277 1,186 

  1,601 1,506 

Sales to Related Parties    

Allied Laundry Services Ltd  970 860 

Central Region Technical Advisory Service  141 125 

Best Care (Whakapai Hauora)  - 2 

Broadway Radiology  - - 

Medlab Central Ltd  - 155 

  1,111 1,142 

Purchase from Related Parties    

Allied Laundry Services Ltd  2,281 2,227 

Central Region Technical Advisory Service  722 496 

Best Care (Whakapai Hauora)  - 947 

Broadway Radiology  - 1,511 

Medlab Central Ltd  - 13,615 

  3,003 18,796 

Outstanding Balances to Related Parties    

Allied Laundry Services Ltd  224 318 

Central Region Technical Advisory Service  - 125 

Best Care (Whakapai Hauora)  - 84 

Broadway Radiology  - 136 

Medlab Central Ltd  - 3 

  224 666 

Outstanding Balances from Related Parties    

Allied Laundry Services Ltd  111 33 

Central Region Technical Advisory Service  - - 

Best Care (Whakapai Hauora)  - - 

Broadway Radiology  - - 

Medlab Central Ltd  - 16 

  111 49 

Key Management and Board Members:    

No significant transactions were enacted between the Group and Key 
Management and Board members during the year.  
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24. BOARD MEMBERS’ FEES  MidCentral DHB 2009 
$000 

2008 
$000 

Non-executive board members received no 
remuneration or provision of benefits except 
for standard fees and additional fees for 
extra duties of a special nature, as 
approved by the Minister of Health. 

Board Members I Wilson, Chair 49 50 
 A Chapman, Deputy Chair 34 34 
 D Anderson 26 26 
 L Burnell 25 26 
 G Campbell 25 14 
 J Drummond 24 25 

  D Emery 25 25 
  D Harris - 11 
  J Jefferies 25 25 
  P Kelly - 12 
  S Paewai 25 4 
  B Robson 25 25 
  O Stock 25 14 
  C Temple-Camp - 11 
 Committee 

Members 
S Devonshire - 1 

 H Eparaima - 2 
 J Godfrey 1 - 
 L Gray 3 2 
 I Gregory - 1 
 C Hamilton 3 - 
  A Kells - 3 
  E Kirkcaldie 1 - 
  M Matamua 1 - 
  G Munro - 1 
  R Orzecki 2 - 
  S Paewai - 2 
  K Simpson 2 - 
  R Skipper - 1 
  N Steenhout - 1 
  J Stojanovic - 2 
  C Sweeney - 2 
  C Temple-Camp 3 - 
  Total 324 320 

 

25. SUBSEQUENT EVENT 
There are no significant events after balance date events (2008: none).  

 

26. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS  
Key Sources of Estimated Uncertainty: 

Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 30 June 2009 which 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities are 
discussed below: 

Estimation of Employee Entitlements Accruals: 

The liability relating to back pay and long term employee benefits (long service leave, gratuities and sabbatical 
leave) is based on a number of assumptions in relation to the estimated length of service, the timing of release of 
the obligation, the rate at which the obligation will be paid and the discount factor to be applied in determining 
the present value. If any of these factors changed significantly the actual outcome could be materially different 
to the estimate provided in the financial statements. The carrying value of the accruals has been disclosed in 
Note 17. 

Optimisation and Useful Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment: 

The value of property, plant and equipment is based on the estimated optimisation and useful lives of the assets. 
The optimisation and useful lives were determined by an independent valuer as at 30 June 2009. The group 
reviews the optimisation and estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of each annual 
reporting period. Based on this review it was determined that no change was required to the assets. The carrying 
value of property, plant and equipment is disclosed in Note 7. 
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Critical Accounting Judgements in Applying the DHB’s Accounting Policies:

Certain critical accounting judgments in applying MidCental DHB’s accounting policies are described below. 

Revenue Recognition and Income in Advance: 

In determining whether or not revenue has been earned a degree of judgement is required based on 
information included within the funding agreements. Where the funding agent has the right to demand 
repayment, income in advance is recognised for the unearned portion of the funding received. The carrying 
value of income in advance has been disclosed in Note 18.  

 

27. EXPLANATION OF FINANCIAL VARIANCES FROM BUDGET 

Crown revenue exceeded budget by $6,210,000, with the most significant increase being due to personal health 
revenue. 
Employee costs exceeded budget by $5,207,000 due to pay settlements and fewer vacancies than anticipated. 
Outsourced services exceeded budget by $5,231,000, due primarily to the outsourcing of clinical services, 
particularly surgery. 
Property, plant and equipment exceeded budget by $14,771,000, largely as a result of the revaluation of land 
and buildings. 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings (non-current liabilities) exceeded budget by $21,067,000. This is an offset by 
the current portion of interest bearing loans and borrowings being under budget by $20,900,000.  
Cash and cash equivalents are under budget by $17,924,000, but this is partly offset by the increase in 
investments of $8,500,000. The net reduction of $9,424,000 is largely due to the deficit in the year. 
Trade and other receivables exceeded budget by $6,854,000. This is made up of a number of items, the most 
significant of which is the increased accrual for elective initiative revenue from the Ministry of Health. 
The other reserves portion of equity exceeded budget by $18,659,000. This is due to the revaluation of land and 
buildings. 

 

28. 2009-12 STATEMENT OF INTENT 

MidCentral District Health Board and group’s 2009-12 Statement of Intent did not fully comply with the 
requirements of the Crown Entities Act 2004. Sections 142(2)(b) and (c) of the Crown Entities Act 2004 require for 
each output class adopted, that the Statement of Intent: 
• Identify the expected revenue to be earned, and proposed expenses to be incurred for each class of 

outputs; and 
• Comply with generally accepted accounting practice. 
At the time the 2009-12 Statement of Intent was adopted, MidCentral District Health Board and group were 
unable to reliably identify the expected revenue and proposed expenses for each class of outputs. As a result, 
MidCentral District Health Board and group breached sections 142(2)(b) and (c) of the Crown Entities Act 2004. 
The breaches occurred because MidCentral District Health Board and group decided to adopt more relevant 
output classes, but they were not able to allocate the underlying budget information to the new output classes. 
The allocation process requires a substantial amount of work and there was insufficient time for it to be carried 
out between the time new output classes were adopted and the time the Statement of Intent was adopted. 
The new output classes will enable MidCentral District Health Board and group to more meaningfully report 
service performance for the year ending 30 June 2010. 
The MidCentral District Health Board and group is yet to identify the expected revenue to be earned, and 
proposed expenses to be incurred for each output class. It intends to work during 2009/10 with other DHBs, the 
Ministry of Health and Office of the Auditor-General to develop a consistent approach in this regard. 

 

29.  COMPLIANCE WITH THE CROWN ENTITIES ACT 2004 

MidCentral DHB has breached the Crown Entities Act 2004 in that the financial statements were not available 
within three months of the 30 June 2009 balance date required under section 156(1)(a), and the audited 
financial statements were not available within four months of 30 June 2009 balance date as required under 
section 156(2)(b).   The financial statements were delayed due to the Board’s decision to review the revaluation 
of land and buildings. 

 

30.  COMPLIANCE WITH THE NEW ZEALAND PUBLIC HEALTH AND DISABILITY ACT 2000 

The District Health Board breached section 38 (1)(c) of the New Zealand Public Health and Disability Act 2000 in 
that it has not reviewed the current district strategic plan, as required, at least once every three years. MidCentral 
DHB's district strategic plan is being reviewed in 2009/10, as are district strategic plans in the other DHBs, to reflect 
changes across the DHB sector. 
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Directory 
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Ian Wilson, Chairman 
Ann Chapman, Deputy Chairman 
Diane Anderson 
Lindsay Burnell 
Graeme Campbell 
Jack Drummond 
Dennis Emery 
Jim Jefferies 
Stephen Paewai 
Barbara Robson 
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Executive Officers 
Murray Georgel, Chief Executive Officer 
Heather Browning, General Manager, Enable New Zealand 
Lareen Cooper, General Manager, MidCentral Health  
Mike Grant, General Manager, Funding Division 
Stuart Wilson, General Manager, Corporate Services 
Jill Matthews, Principal Administration Officer 

Registered Office 
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Postal Address 
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Telephone 
(06) 350 8061, Board Office 

Website 
www.midcentraldhb.govt.nz  

Auditor 
Deloitte on behalf of the Office of the Controller & Auditor Ge

Bankers 
Crown Financing Agency, Wellington 
Bank of New Zealand Limited, Wellington 
ASB Bank Limited, Auckland 
Westpac, Palmerston North 

Solicitors 
Buddle Findlay, Wellington 
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